Lifespan trajectories of corpus callosum: Regional differences and cognitive relevance

Vilde Marie Danielsen



Submitted as Cand. psychol. thesis Department of Psychology

UNIVERSITY OF OSLO

May 2020

Abstract

Author:	Vilde Marie Danielsen
Title:	Lifespan trajectories of corpus callosum: regional differences and cognitive
	relevance
~ .	

Supervisor: René Westerhausen

The thesis collected data from three projects coordinated by the research center for Lifespan Changes in Brain and Cognition (LCBC) at the Department of Psychology, University of Oslo (UiO). I have been involved in the data collection of all projects as an employed research assistant. A short version of the present thesis has been submitted to a scientific journal and is currently under revision. The preprint is available as "Danielsen, V. M., Pineiro, D. V., Mowinckel, A. M., Sederevicius, D., Fjell, A. M., Walhovd, K. B., & Westerhausen, R. (2020). Lifespan trajectories of relative corpus callosum thickness: regional differences and cognitive relevance. *PsyArXiv Preprints*. doi:https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/v58s4"

Objectives: The thesis revisit the topic of hemispheric interconnectivity and structural development of the corpus callosum by addressing the issue of proportionality. As the proportionality of callosal growth and decline compared to other brain size measures have been greatly disregarded in the literature, the study aims to give a descriptive account of relative callosal thickness across the lifespan. In addition, the study examines regional differences in lifespan trajectories and possible cognitive consequences of changes in relative callosal thickness.

Methods and participants: The study has a mixed longitudinal and cross-sectional design with a sample consisting of 1867 observations from 1014 healthy participants (age range from 4 to 93 years). Data was collected from three studies coordinated by the Lifespan Changes in Brain and Cognition (LCBC) research center. A measure of callosal thickness was determined on the midsagittal surface of T1-weighted magnetic resonance (MR) images. Relative callosal thickness was estimated by relating 60 callosal thickness segments to forebrain volume. Age trajectories were identified by a cluster analysis and then fitted using generalized additive mixed models (GAMM). Cognitive measures were collected from raw scores on Matrix Reasoning and Vocabulary subtests from either WPPSI/WASI. Finally, a

mediation analysis was completed with the identified age trajectories, change in age and cognitive measures.

Results: The study demonstrates an over-proportional increase of relative callosal thickness in the first three decades of life, mirrored by an over-proportional decline after 60 years of age. Regional specific lifespan trajectories were identified from a five-cluster solution. These trajectories differ substantially on the anterior to posterior division with the most prominent difference being an accentuated growth during development and a ten-year delay of decline in relative callosal thickness for posterior regions (splenium). Significant mediation effects were found for two of the mediation analyses demonstrating that the ventral splenium significantly mediates age-related changes in cognitive performance on both subtests Matrix Reasoning and Vocabulary.

Conclusion: The findings does not only confirm an inverted-u-shaped trajectory of callosal size across the lifespan but demonstrate that this growth and decline in callosal size is overproportional to what could be expected by change in other brain sizes. It also found that increased relative callosal thickness in posterior callosal regions has beneficial consequences for higher-order cognition. Furthermore, the thesis argues that the observed regional specific callosal trajectories could serve as a segmentation procedure for callosal subdivision as it secures adequate relation between callosal structure and function. Additional research on relative callosal measures are necessary to reaffirm the merits of the current analysis, but it does indicate that analyzing the proportionality of callosal size across the lifespan offers valuable insight into the development of hemispheric interconnectivity, as well as its cognitive consequences. To further advance on this knowledge, future work should also prioritize research on clinical populations in order to investigate atypical brain development.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my supervisor René Westerhausen for his guidance and feedback, but mostly for his generosity in including me in the research process.

I would also like to thank the LCBC community for three wonderful years as a research assistant. This has inspired me to continue my path in neuroscience and neuropsychology.

Last, but not least, a big thank you to Stian and my family for their invaluable support.

Table of Contents

Abstrac	÷t	i
Acknow	vledgments	iii
Table o	f Contents	<i>iv</i>
1. In	troduction	1
1.1.	Hemispheric asymmetry and the need for interconnectivity	1
1.2	The Corpus Callosum: Enabler of interhemispheric communication	5
1.3	Structural developmental: A lifespan perspective on the corpus callosum .	8
1.4	Callosal size and general cognitive ability	11
1.5	Methodological challenges: The issue of proportionality	13
1.6	Aim of the present study	15
2. Ma	aterial and methods	16
2.1.	Participants	16
2.2.	Ethical considerations	17
2.3.	Structural magnetic resonance imaging (sMRI) acquisition	17
2.4	Prospective and retrospective image quality control	18
2.5	Callosal thickness measurement	19
2.6	Measurement of forebrain and white-matter volume	22
2.7	Fitting and clustering of callosal lifespan trajectories	22
2.8	Cognitive measures and assessment	23
2.9	Mediation analysis	25
3 Re	sults	26
3.1	Lifespan trajectories and clustering	26
3.2	Corpus callosum and cognitive abilities	30
4 Di	scussion	31
4.1	General pattern of callosal growth	31
4.2	Regional callosal lifespan trajectories	32
4.3	Functional hemispheric neural networks	
4.4	Implications for callosal subdivision	35
4.5	Cognitive consequences	
4.6	Validity of the cognitive measures	
4.7	Further limitations and future directions	40
5 Co	nclusion	43
6 Re	ferences	44
7 Su	pplement	58

1. Introduction

1.1. Hemispheric asymmetry and the need for interconnectivity

Considering that the human brain is perceived as a highly complex cognitive processing unit, one of the most central challenges in the scientific field of cognitive neuroscience is understanding the nature of these cognitive systems and their neural substrates (Baynes, Eliassen, Lutsep, & Gazzaniga, 1998; McClelland & Ralph, 2015). The evolvement of the cerebral cortex is recognized as fundamental for human intelligence and complex problemsolving capacities (Hofman, 2019; Roth & Dicke, 2005). Divided by the medial longitudinal fissure, the cerebral cortex consists of the left and right hemispheres. These are specialized for different cognitive functions and receive different sensory information (Baynes et al., 1998; Grant, 2015; Ocklenburg, 2018). The functionally specialized hemispheres are strongly connected by interhemispheric commissures; White matter tracts crossing the medial longitudinal fissure and ensuring communication between the cerebral hemispheres. In this way, the cerebral cortex is able to integrate information from both hemispheres resulting in coherent and seemingly inseparable cognitive functions and perception (Baynes et al., 1998; van Der Knaap & van Der Ham, 2011). It can be postulated that the complexity of the human brain relies on its connectivity between cerebral regions (Paul et al., 2007). The human forebrain contains three major commissures, which are the anterior commissure, the hippocampal commissure and the corpus callosum. Corpus callosum is the largest and most important interhemispheric commissure as it connects almost all cortical areas (van Der Knaap & van Der Ham, 2011).

Functional cerebral specialization and lateralization was first demonstrated by early behavioral experiments on split-brain patients (Gazzaniga, 2000, 2005; Reuter-Lorenz & Miller, 1998). Split-brain patients are individuals with surgical resected interhemispheric commissures, including a partial or total severing of the corpus callosum (Paul et al., 2007). This line of research illustrates that the left hemisphere is roughly known to be specialized for language and speech, as well as essential problem-solving capacities, while the right hemisphere is more involved in visuospatial processing and facial recognition (Gazzaniga, 2000, 2005; 2014, pp. 135-145; Reuter-Lorenz & Miller, 1998). Furthermore, split-brain research has made it evident that interhemispheric transferring and integration of information through the corpus callosum is essential for human perception and cognition. For instance, neurologically intact individuals perform superior to split-brain patients on several cognitive measures (Kreuter, Kinsbourne, & Trevarthen, 1972; Zaidel & Sperry, 1974). This has been attributed to the capability of neurologically intact individuals to coordinate and distribute information between the cerebral hemispheres and in particular through the major callosal commissure (Belger & Banich, 1998). Zaidel and Sperry (1974) also found impaired short-term memory in patients with a partly resected corpus callosum indicating that both partly and total resection of corpus callosum have functional consequences. Although split-brain research has provided valuable insight to cerebral specialization and hemispheric interconnectivity, contributions are complicated by the frequent preexistence of seizure disorders and varying extent of white matter resected (Gazzaniga, 2014, p. 134; Paul et al., 2007; Zaidel & Sperry, 1974).

Research on patients with agenesis, that is individuals with a brain malformation resulting in a partial or total absence of the corpus callosum, does not provide clear support for cerebral specialization or consistently result in disconnection syndrome similar to that seen in split-brain patients (Banich & Brown, 2000; Paul et al., 2007). Compared to splitbrain patients whom mostly undergo surgery in adult life, patients with agenesis are born with a resected callosal commissure. Hence, neural plasticity processes in early brain development might contribute to establishing alternative neural pathways and, in this way, securing brain functioning. However, although patients with agenesis do not mirror the disconnection syndrome, research does find a general pattern of impaired neuropsychological functioning, in particular for higher order cognition and social skills (Paul et al., 2007). Overall, research on clinical populations such as split-brain patients and patients with agenesis support the integrative role of the corpus callosum in interhemispheric transfer of information. It also suggests that callosal disconnection results in impaired cognitive performance.

Lateralization of cognitive functions is seen as a hallmark of human functional brain organization (Banich & Brown, 2000). However, more recent research on cerebral specialization and lateralization suggest that hemispheric asymmetry and interconnectivity require a more nuanced understanding than first assumed. Although brain lesion studies and studies using advanced imaging techniques support the general tendency of left-hemispheric language dominance (Knecht et al., 2000; Ojemann & Ojemann, 1991; M. J. Pujol, Deus, Losilla, & Capdevila, 1999) and right-hemispheric dominance for spatial attention (Heilman & Abell, 1980; Pardo, Fox, & Raichle, 1991; Weintraub & Mesulam, 1987) in the majority of the population, there is a small proportion of the population with an atypical hemispheric asymmetry (Carey, Johnstone, & Carey, 2014; Knecht et al., 2000). That is, an opposite left

2

and right hemispheric lateralization pattern. Cai, Haegen, and Brysbaert (2013) suggested a causal origin to this complementary specialization of language production and spatial attention. They argued that the lateralization of language causes the opposite lateralization of spatial attention, or the other way around. However, the framework introduced by Cai et al. (2013) is complicated by research showing the existence of language and spatial attention lateralizing to the same hemisphere in some healthy humans (Flöel et al., 2001). Hence, the left-hemispheric language dominance and right-hemispheric dominance for spatial attention is not an invariable characteristic of human brain organization.

Additionally, certain perceptual or cognitive functions are represented in both hemispheres. This illustrates how specialization of the hemispheres is relative, rather than absolute (Banich, 1998a). For instance, visual information is in general projected to the contralateral hemisphere. Stimuli shown to the right visual field are projected to the left hemisphere, while stimuli presented in the left visual field are projected to the right hemisphere. This information is later integrated through the hemispheric commissures to present the complete visual field perceived by the brain (Gazzaniga, 2014, pp. 121-122, 186). However, humans have a retinal nasotemporal overlap of approximately 1 degree in their visual midline, which project information to both hemispheres. This retinal nasotemporal overlap results in parts of the fovea being represented in both cerebral hemispheres and does not require interhemispheric commissures to transfer and integrate information (Fendrich & Gazzaniga, 1989; Fendrich, Wessinger, & Gazzaniga, 1996; Gazzaniga, 2000; Marzi, Mancini, Sperandio, & Savazzi, 2009).

Furthermore, although it is common to refer to left and right hemispheric dominance for cognitive functions, neuroimaging and neuropsychological research make way for a reconceptualizing of this absolute duality (Vyacheslav, Maurizio, & Michel Thiebaut de, 2019). Recent studies suggest the existence of functional epicentres for cognitive functions. These epicenters are located in different hemispheres, while supported by large neural networks across the cerebral cortex. To solve complex cognitive tasks, the networks involving several structural brain regions are dependent on interhemispheric communication to cooperate and integrate information (Maurizio, 1998; Mesulam, 1998; Nobre & Plunkett, 1997). Language lateralization is one of the major topics in research on functional hemispheric asymmetries. Although many aspects of language processing are controlled by the left hemisphere in the majority of the population, there is also a right hemispheric neural contribution to language (Friederici, Von Cramon, & Kotz, 2007; Specht, 2014). Consequently, some representation of language would still be present in each of the

3

hemispheres despite a resected callosum. This has been demonstrated by the hemispheric dissociation between written and spoken language in callosotomy patients (Baynes et al., 1998). In addition, a study by Friederici et al. (2007) found evidence of a right hemispheric involvement for linguistic prosody and a left lateralization of phonemic segmental information. Both functions are important to spoken language comprehension but are still represented in the opposite hemispheres. Combined, the notion of cognitive neural networks across the cerebral cortex make the study of hemispheric interconnectivity and human cognition particularly intricate.

The mechanisms underlaying cerebral specialization and lateralization are still partly unknown, though it has been suggested there is an evolutionary advantage to the evolvement of hemispheric asymmetry and interconnectivity (Hopkins & Cantalupo, 2008). Evolutionary psychologists have hypothesized that increased demands on limited cortical space resulted in a process of natural selection where only one of the cerebral hemispheres was modified. As this specialization happened, cortical regions that were previously dedicated to certain functions became co-opted. Interhemispheric commissures were ensuring that important information could still be integrated. This entails, there was no overall loss of performance because these former functions were still supported by the other hemisphere and integrated through the commissures. The result is reduced cortical redundancy, as the specialization of the cerebral hemispheres leads to an extension of cortical capacity (Gazzaniga, 2000).

Although functional hemispheric specialization has obvious benefits, it also comes with a cost. The work of Banich and colleagues (Banich & Belger, 1990, 1991; Banich & Brown, 2000; Belger & Banich, 1992, 1998) suggest that callosal integration allow distribution of computations between the hemispheres. In this way, corpus callosum contributes to increasing the brain's information processing power, as compared to unilateral hemispheric activation. However, transferring information through callosal nerve fibers have two important costs: it is time-consuming and pieces of the information might be lost in the process (Banich, 1998b; Banich & Belger, 1991; Belger & Banich, 1998). A series of studies suggested that bilateral hemispheric activation is more essential for complex cognitive tasks as compared to simpler tasks (Banich & Belger, 1990; Belger & Banich, 1992, 1998). This pattern might reflect a cost-benefit analysis where the benefits of interhemispheric communication outweigh the costs for complex tasks that one hemisphere is not able to solve by itself. In simpler tasks, on the other hand, the costs of bilateral hemispheric activation and callosal integration would be greater than the benefits of increased processing power (Belger & Banich, 1998). Interhemispheric efficiency might also be related to ageing processes. There is evidence of a larger bilateral advantage in older children compared to younger children (Banich & Brown, 2000; Banich, Passarotti, & Janes, 2000). Cabeza et al. (1997) also report that elderly are more likely to show bilateral activation for cognitive tasks, as compared to younger adults. This data could reflect changes in interhemispheric efficiency across the lifespan. It is possible that older children and young adults have less costs to interhemispheric integration compared to younger children. However, the bilateral activation found in older adults have also been tied to a possible reduced capacity of unilateral hemispheric processing (Banich & Brown, 2000). Banich and Brown (2000), however, suggested that the dynamic relationship between costs and benefits of bilateral hemispheric activation could also reflect changes in callosal transfer efficiency.

1.2 The Corpus Callosum: Enabler of interhemispheric communication

Given that interhemispheric communication is essential for human perception and cognition (Banich, 1998a; Gazzaniga, 2000; Glickstein & Berlucchi, 2008), it is natural to further examine the structure and functional organization of the corpus callosum to understand how it enables such interaction.

With its more than 200 million axons and axon collaterals, the corpus callosum is responsible for the majority of information transferred between the cerebral hemispheres (Aboitiz, Scheibel, Fisher, & Zaidel, 1992; Banich, 1998a; Gazzaniga, 2000; Tomasch, 1954). The major connective structure is located just above the lateral ventricles, near the center of the brain, and runs along the longitudinal fissure (Gazzaniga, 2014, p. 128; Rakic & Yakovlev, 1968). As callosal fibers interconnect close to all cortical areas of the human forebrain, the corpus callosum is able to transfer both sensory, motor and higher-order information (Gazzaniga, 2014, p. 128; Schmahmann & Pandya, 2006). It has been suggested that corpus callosum is in fact the only interhemispheric connection able to transfer higher-order information. This might indicate a more vulnerable relationship between callosal functioning and cognitive abilities typically associated with the frontal lobe, such as complex problem solving, as compared to more rudimentary sensory input (Banich, 1998a; Gazzaniga, 2000).

From the midsagittal plane the corpus callosum has a distinct C-shape (illustrated in Fig. 1a) and the callosal structure is commonly divided into different subsections. Most described subsections are the rostrum and the genu at the anterior end of the structure,

followed by the body, including the truncus and isthmus, and finally the splenium at the posterior end. However, the boundaries between the subregions are arbitrary and difficult to define due to the lack of clear macroanatomical landmarks and boundaries (Rauch & Jinkins, 1994; van Der Knaap & van Der Ham, 2011).



Figure 1. A) Illustration of the distinct C-shape of the corpus callosum on the midsagittal surface. *B)* Image showing the location of the corpus callosum in relation to other anatomical brain structures in the midsagittal plane: 1. Corpus callosum, 2. Commissure of Fornix, 3. The third ventricle, 4. Septum Pellucidum, 5. Anterior commissure. Image courtesy of Complete Anatomy

The corpus callosum has an anterior-posterior functional topographical organization which is consistent with the topography of the cerebral cortex (Pandya & Seltzer, 1986; van Der Knaap & van Der Ham, 2011; Zarei et al., 2006). The notion of a functional topographical mapping of the corpus callosum was first demonstrated in electrophysical and anatomical tracing studies of nonhuman primates (Pandya, Karol, & Heilbronn, 1971) and in early human lesion studies (de Lacoste, Kirkpatrick, & Ross, 1985). It has later been supported by studies using noninvasive diffusion magnetic resonance imaging (Abe et al., 2004; Dougherty et al., 2005; Hofer & Frahm, 2006; Zarei et al., 2006) and functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) (Fabri & Polonara, 2013; Fabri, Polonara, Mascioli, Salvolini, & Manzoni, 2011). Combined, these studies demonstrate that anterior callosal fibers interconnect frontal cortical areas and are involved in higher order cognition and the transfer of motor information. In contrast, posterior fibers encompass interconnections between the parietal, temporal and occipital lobes and are roughly responsible for the integration of somatosensory information through the callosal posterior midbody, auditory information through the isthmus, and visual information through the splenium (Schmahmann & Pandya, 2006). However, this is further complicated by the finding that the corpus callosum contains both homotopical and heterotypical nerve fibers (de Lacoste et al., 1985; Gazzaniga, 2014, p. 128). Meaning, the corpus callosum transfer information to both corresponding and different brain regions in the contralateral hemisphere. In short, corticocallosal specific connections transfer information between equivalent parts of the cerebral hemispheres (Banich, 1998a; Zarei et al., 2006), while heterotypical nerve fibers connect different cortical areas (Hofer & Frahm, 2006).

Furthermore, callosal fibers vary in both number, diameter and degree of myelination based on regional location. Thinner and less myelinated axons are situated in anterior callosal regions, while posterior sections consists largely of thicker highly myelinated nerve fibers (Aboitiz et al., 1992; Björnholm et al., 2017). The size of the nerve fibers is also related to interhemispheric transfer time. Thicker callosal fibers are faster compared to less myelinated and thinner axons (Aboitiz et al., 1992; Ulusoy et al., 2004). The function of callosal fibers on the contralateral hemisphere has been debated. A review by Bloom and Hynd (2005) suggest that callosal nerve fibers are primarily excitatory in promoting interhemispheric integration, but some nerve fibers also seem to be involved in inhibiting the function of the contralateral hemisphere.

During the last decades, a number of empirical studies have demonstrated individual differences in callosal morphology based on factors such as age, sex, handedness, degree of

handedness lateralization and brain size in both developmental and adult samples (J. M. Clarke & Zaidel, 1994; Driesen & Raz, 1995; Giedd et al., 1996; Hasan, Ewing-Cobbs, Kramer, Fletcher, & Narayana, 2008; Hasan, Kamali, et al., 2008; Luders, Cherbuin, et al., 2010; Prendergast et al., 2015; D. Salat, Ward, Kaye, & Janowsky, 1997; van Der Knaap & van Der Ham, 2011; Witelson, 1989).Witleson (1989) suggested that these individual differences in callosal morphology are related to hemispheric specialization and have functional consequences. The issue of sex differences especially has received a lot of scrutiny and findings are often controversial due to lack of consistency in findings between studies (van Der Knaap & van Der Ham, 2011). Contradictory findings are likely a result of methodological differences between studies, including a lack of controlling for brain sizes and differing approaches to partitioning the corpus callosum (S. Clarke, Kraftsik, Van Der Loos, & Innocenti, 1989; Hofer & Frahm, 2006; Smith, 2005; van Der Knaap & van Der Ham, 2011; Witelson, 1989).

1.3 Structural developmental: A lifespan perspective on the corpus callosum

It is widely recognized that the cerebral cortex undergoes significant changes in both white and grey matter across the lifespan (Tamnes et al., 2013; Westlye et al., 2010). As the corpus callosum has a central role in transferring information between the cerebral hemispheres, the question is whether age related changes in callosal morphology also have functional consequences during development. To investigate this, we first have to examine the structural growth and ageing of the corpus callosum.

The callosal commissure has a relatively long developmental trajectory (van Der Knaap & van Der Ham, 2011). It originates, together with other interhemispheric commissures, from the rostral wall of the embryonal telencephalon at approximately 10-11 weeks of gestation. Then, the callosal fibers form the callosal commissural plate and becomes distinct from the anterior commissure. At 18-20 weeks after gestation, the structure has a form and position similar to that of an adult (Rakic & Yakovlev, 1968). The prenatal anatomical direction of callosal developmental progression has been debated. Rakic and Yakovlev (1968) reported that the fibers extend in a rostral-caudal direction, meaning that anterior callosal sections develop before posterior areas. There is one exception being the rostrum which develop at a later stage than the splenium.

It is recognized that the number of callosal nerve fibers is fixed at birth (Luders, Thompson, & Toga, 2010). However, empirical evidence has established that the corpus callosum undergoes significant structural changes in both size and shape across the entire lifespan. These structural changes seem to follow an inverted-u-shaped trajectory and are likely a result of axonal myelination, redirection and pruning (Hasan, Kamali, et al., 2008; Luders, Thompson, et al., 2010; Prendergast et al., 2015).

Rauch and Jinkins (1994) argued that even though the number of callosal nerve fibers are fixed at birth, the callosal size is underdeveloped compared to the size of the cerebral cortex. Studies demonstrate a significant increase in overall callosal size in the first period of life (Tanaka-Arakawa et al., 2015; Vannucci, Barron, & Vannucci, 2017). For instance, there has been demonstrated a doubling of callosal size in the first year of life alone (Vannucci et al., 2017). This rapid maturation in infancy and early childhood is believed to be due to substantial gain of axon myelination and might contribute to reducing the perceived early underdevelopment of corpus callosum compared to cerebral size (S. Clarke et al., 1989; Rauch & Jinkins, 1994; Tanaka-Arakawa et al., 2015; Vannucci et al., 2017). Furthermore, a recent MRI study by Vannucci et al. (2017) reported increased expansion of the genu compared to the splenium during the first six years of life. This indicate that the anteriorposterior wave of maturation continues into early postnatal development. There is some debate regarding the linearity of callosal growth during this early stage of life. Early studies suggested a linear increase in callosal size with age (Giedd et al., 1996). However, a more recent study by Tanaka-Arakawa et al. (2015) report a non-linear developmental trajectory of the corpus callosum.

During later childhood and adolescence, the rapid maturation seen in early childhood is followed by an increasingly decelerating growth (Ansado et al., 2015; Chavarria, Sanchez, Chou, Thompson, & Luders, 2014; S. Genc, Malpas, Ball, Silk, & Seal, 2018; Giedd et al., 1999; Luders, Cherbuin, et al., 2010; Luders, Thompson, et al., 2010; Tanaka-Arakawa et al., 2015; Westerhausen et al., 2016). There are also demonstrated regional differences in development during childhood and adolescence. In contrast to regional prenatal and early postnatal maturation, several studies demonstrate a more pronounced growth in the posterior sections compared to anterior callosal regions in later childhood and adolescence. (Giedd et al., 1999; Giedd et al., 1996; Luders, Thompson, et al., 2010; Vannucci et al., 2017; Westerhausen et al., 2016). However, not all reports are in agreement. For instance, Luders, Thompson, et al. (2010) and Ansado et al. (2015) agrees with the general trend of a posterior to anterior callosal maturation in this age group, but they also observed a positive correlation between age and increased callosal area in the genu, an anterior section of the corpus callosum.

Furthermore, histological, morphometric MRI and diffusion imaging studies suggest that callosal size peak in the third decade of life (Hasan et al., 2009; Lebel, Caverhill-Godkewitsch, & Beaulieu, 2010; Prendergast et al., 2015; J. Pujol, Vendrell, Junque, Marti-Vilalta, & Capdevila, 1993; Yeatman, Wandell, & Mezer, 2014). There is some disagreement between studies regarding what age callosal growth ends. For instance, J. Pujol et al. (1993) found evidence that the size of the corpus callosum increases until the mid-twenties, while Prendergast et al. (2015) recently reported the existence of callosal growth until at least the third and even fourth decade of life. This indicate that corpus callosum is one of the latest matured white matter structures in the human brain (Giedd et al., 1996). There are also indication of different development peaks for different callosal sections as one study observed that the genu and isthmus reached peak area values first, followed by the body, the splenium and finally the rostrum (Prendergast et al., 2015).

Structural callosal changes in the period between the third and seventh decade of life is less investigated. A longitudinal study by Raz, Ghisletta, Rodrigue, Kennedy, and Lindenberger (2010) indicates that following the third decade of life, there is a phase of relative stability with regards to structural changes in the corpus callosum. This is further supported by the early works of Rauch and Jinkins (1994). These studies did not consider regional differences in the connective structure.

It is well established that ageing is related to deterioration in brain structure (Allen, Bruss, Brown, & Damasio, 2005; Giorgio et al., 2010; Walhovd et al., 2011). This also applies for the callosal commissure. Above the age of 60 years, there is observed a more prominent decline in callosal thickness (Doraiswamy et al., 1991; Hou & Pakkenberg, 2012; D. Salat et al., 1997; Sullivan, Rohlfing, & Pfefferbaum, 2010). This age-related thinning of corpus callosum also differ based on callosal regions. Studies suggest that anterior and middle callosal sections are more susceptible to age related atrophy compared to posterior regions (Madden, Bennett, & Song, 2009; Persson et al., 2006; Salami, Eriksson, Nilsson, & Nyberg, 2012; D. Salat et al., 1997; D. H. Salat et al., 2005; Sullivan, Adalsteinsson, & Pfefferbaum, 2006). A study by Allen et al. (2005) also indicate that the relationship between aging and decline in callosal thickness is non-linear during this period of life.

In summary, research from the last couple of decades demonstrate an inverted-ushaped trajectory of callosal size across the lifespan. The peak of growth is reported for the third decade of life. It is noteworthy that there are clear indications of region-specific rates of change in callosal size for both periods of maturation and decline. There is seen an anterior to posterior wave of maturation in prenatal and early postnatal development which in later childhood and adolescence reverse to a larger increase in posterior compared to anterior regions. Decline of the callosal size in older age seem to be more prominent in anterior sections, indicating that the sections first to mature are also the first to deteriorate.

1.4 Callosal size and general cognitive ability

Although it is widely recognized that the corpus callosum undergoes significant structural changes during both development and ageing, many of the functional consequences of variability in callosal morphology are still unknown (Banich & Brown, 2000). A significant effort has been dedicated to understanding the role of interhemispheric interaction on cognition (Belger & Banich, 1998; Peterson, Feineigle, Staib, & Gore, 2001). Research suggest that intellectual abilities are supported by large neural networks encompassing association areas in both frontal, parietal and temporal lobes (Deary, 2012; Jung & Haier, 2007; Luders, Narr, Thompson, & Toga, 2009). As the corpus callosum is shown to support cognitive functions by facilitating cerebral connectivity, it is a natural step to further investigate callosal morphological contributions to higher-order cognition and intellectual abilities.

Several studies on both clinical and healthy populations have indicated that callosal morphology modulate intellectual abilities (Luders et al., 2007; Westerhausen et al., 2018; Westerhausen et al., 2011). There is also evidence of an association between callosal development and cognitive changes across the lifespan. This is documented by studies on both developmental and ageing samples (Chicoine, Proteau, & Lassonde, 2000; Dougherty et al., 2007; Fryer et al., 2008; Gootjes et al., 2006; Hinkley et al., 2016; Kennedy & Raz, 2009; Penke et al., 2010; Prendergast et al., 2015; Westerhausen et al., 2011; Zahr, Rohlfing, Pfefferbaum, & Sullivan, 2009). This line of research suggests that morphological changes in corpus callosum serve as both a marker of individual cognitive abilities and a facilitator for the development of higher-order cognition across the lifespan.

Possibly most investigated is the relationship between callosal size and individual cognitive abilities, which is often measured as IQ scores from standard intelligence tests. Callosal size, as measured from the midsagittal plane, has been of interest due to the assumption that a larger corpus callosum means greater processing power in the human brain (Ganjavi et al., 2011). It is postulated that a larger callosum indicate either increased number or more extensive myelination of axons, and that either of these facilitate cerebral connectivity, which further promote cognitive performance (Rauch & Jinkins, 1994).

In accordance with this theory, most studies on adult samples have found a positive correlation between callosal size and intellectual abilities (Allin et al., 2007; Chiang et al., 2009; Dunst, Benedek, Koschutnig, Jauk, & Neubauer, 2014; Luders et al., 2007; Strauss, Wada, & Hunter, 1994). However, the field has been characterized by methodological differences. Luders et al. (2007) criticized early studies investigating corpus callosum and cognitive abilities for failing to consider the relation between total brain volume and intelligence (McDaniel, 2005), as well as between total brain volume and callosal size (Jancke, Staiger, Schlaug, Huang, & Steinmetz, 1997). Statistically controlling for these aspects, Luders et al. (2007) still found a positive relationship between callosal thickness and intelligence scores in adults, but mainly in the posterior sections of the structure. They further suggested that this selective association between posterior callosal thickness and intelligence most likely represent the topographical organization of the callosum.

In contrast, one lifespan study by Peterson et al. (2001) using automated factor-based measures of callosal morphology reported that IQ measures were associated with a reduced thickness of the anterior portion of the corpus callosum. This is the callosal section mainly consisting of axons interconnecting the prefrontal and premotor parts of the cerebral cortex. Thus, these results show an inconsistency in the relationship between callosal size and intellectual abilities, possibly influenced by methodological differences. In addition, the divergent findings between callosal subsections indicate that regional callosal thickness might be significant for modulating general cognitive capacity in adults.

Studies on typically developing samples further complicate the relationship between callosal size and cognition. While some studies have not been able to find any relationship between callosal size and general cognitive abilities in healthy younger age populations (Nosarti et al., 2004), others have suggested that decreasing callosal size is associated with improved neurocognitive performance in children (Allin et al., 2007; Ganjavi et al., 2011; Hutchinson et al., 2009; Luders et al., 2011; Westerhausen et al., 2011). Interestingly, Ganjavi et al. (2011) also found a negative correlation between callosal size and cognitive performance, though only for children between six and twelve years of age and not in older adolescents. It is important to note that as with the adult population, research on typically developing children and adolescents is influenced by differing designs and methods. An important difference is how empirical studies measure callosal size. For instance, Luders et al. (2011) used total callosal thickness while Ganjavi et al. (2011) used total callosal area as a measure of callosal size.

A large scale study by Westerhausen et al. (2018) also shed light on the importance of the cognitive measure chosen for studying the relationship between intellectual abilities and callosal size. They point out that prior studies examining callosal size and intelligence has utilized age-standardized norm-deviation IQ scores. As a result, their findings reflect the relative level of performance in the norm group and not absolute performance to all ages as with the use of raw scores. Westerhausen et al. (2018) found a positive correlation between absolute level of performance and absolute callosal thickness for people aged 6 to 21 years of age. Thus, the relationship between callosal size and intelligence in children and adolescences were comparable to that of adults when considering absolute performance. Hence, the use of norm scores might explain prior discrepancies in findings for young developmental samples.

Combined, these findings demonstrate how the relationship between intellectual abilities and callosal size might be dynamic and age specific. They also illustrate the importance of solving divergency in methodologies between studies in order to secure valid findings when examining the relationship between callosal size and cognition.

1.5 Methodological challenges: The issue of proportionality

The study of neuroscience draws on a wide range of research methods and approaches. In consequence, it has been challenging to integrate insights derived from these methods and form a common theoretical framework (McClelland & Ralph, 2015). As illustrated above, research on hemispheric interconnectivity through the corpus callosum is no exception to this challenge.

The issue of proportionality between callosal size and other brain size measures is an important challenge for the neuroscientific field of hemispheric interconnectivity and callosal development. This issue derives from the many divergent methods of controlling for parallel changes in brain sizes when studying callosal growth and ageing. It is widely recognized that callosal size correlate with total brain size (Jancke et al., 1997). For this reason, parallel changes in callosal size and total brain size are commonly considered a potential confounding factor by the research community. In addition, the forebrain volume undergoes significant changes in both grey and white matter across the lifespan (Tamnes et al., 2013; Westlye et al., 2010). As the human forebrain volume and callosal size is related, it is also likely that these changes in white and grey matter would affect callosal morphology (Jancke et al.,

1997). Moreover, a study by Rauch and Jinkins (1994) found a positive correlation between callosal size and cerebral size with a larger correlation in children than adults.

Although the importance of considering differences in brain size measures is acknowledged in the literature, the method used to do this vary between studies. It is most common to consider brain size as a confounding variable and correct for it in statistical analysis (Smith, 2005). This can be practiced by including brain-size measures, such as total intracranial or forebrain volume, as a covariate of non-interest in the analysis. The result of this approach is a removal of the variance in callosal size that is explained by differences in brain size. However, a discussion brought forward by Smith (2005) reveals concerns regarding the outcome of this procedure. In particular, he points out that removing the effect of brain size from statistical analysis could obscure important information about the proportionality of callosal development in the human brain.

Based on the work of Smith (2005), it can be argued that analyzing the relation between callosal size and brain size is a promising alternative to statistical controlling for brain sizes. Examining callosal size in relation to other brain sized could provide important additional information about hemispheric interconnectivity and callosal morphology. The proportionality of callosal size in differently sized brains can be studied by calculating ratios of the two variables (Holloway & de Lacoste, 1986; Smith, 2005). It can be argued that such ratios are especially appealing when conducting lifespan studies on the corpus callosum, because the presence of any growth of decline of the ratio studied will indicate overproportional changes in hemispheric interconnectivity. Over-proportional growth would also potentially represent changes in the way the two cerebral hemispheres interact during the time period studied. Therefore, it is surprising that such ratios between callosal and brain size are rarely used in lifespan research. The few studies that do include ratios have small, crosssectional samples with restricted age ranges (Rauch & Jinkins, 1994; D. Salat et al., 1997; Skumlien, Sederevicius, Fjell, Walhovd, & Westerhausen, 2018). These studies suggest that during periods of growth there is an an over-proportional increase in relative corpus callosum size (Rauch & Jinkins, 1994), while in older age there are an over-proportional decline (D. Salat et al., 1997; Skumlien et al., 2018). In addition, the functional consequence of the overproportional changes on higher order cognition are understudied, as of the three studies identified, D. Salat et al. (1997) was the only study to include a measure of cognition in their analysis. They studied the relationship between relative callosal thickness and memory and visual construction in older age.

1.6 Aim of the present study

The overarching goal of the present study is to study hemispheric interconnectivity in healthy individuals across the lifespan. Hemispheric interconnectivity will be represented as the structural development of the corpus callosum and its cognitive consequences. By utilizing a lifespan perspective to changes in the corpus callosum, the study is able to cover both the developmental processes of childhood and degenerative processes of ageing. To be more specific, the primary objective of the study is to revisit the issue of proportionality by giving a descriptive account on lifespan changes in callosal size in relation to other brain size measures. The thesis will extend on previous research by using ratios between callosal size and brain sizes in a large mixed cross-sectional and longitudinal sample (1867 datasets). Secondly, the study aims to examine the relationship between callosal size in relation to other brain size measures and higher-order cognition throughout the lifespan, as this is largely overlooked in the literature. Finally, the study revisits the significance of regional callosal areas for both callosal development and intellectual abilities by extending on previous research by utilizing relative callosal measures. Also, as the study focus on normal developmental profiles, it aims to provide reference data that can be used to relate and interpret research on changes in callosal morphology and its cognitive relevance in clinical populations.

In order to achieve the objectives of the study, the corpus callosum was sectioned into 60 segments. By sectioning the corpus callosum, the study is able to account for potential regional differences within the connective structure. Callosal thickness was measured at each of the 60 segments. The ratio of segmental thickness by adjusted forebrain volume was used as a dependent variable in all analyses and will throughout the thesis be referred to as relative callosal thickness. Prior research including ratios between callosal and brain sizes suggest a non-linear relationships between age and changes in relative corpus callosum thickness (Rauch & Jinkins, 1994; D. Salat et al., 1997; Skumlien et al., 2018). Therefore, generalized additive mixed models (GAMM) were employed to fit lifespan trajectories for each of the 60 segments of callosal thickness. The trajectories were further clustered to subsections of comparable callosal development across the lifespan. Lastly, mediation analyses were used in order to determine if changes in relative callosal thickness for each of the clusters contribute to age-related trajectories in higher-order cognition. The subtests Matrix Reasoning and Vocabulary from the Wechsler scale (Wechsler, 1999) were used as measures of cognition.

2. Material and methods

2.1.Participants

The study has a mixed longitudinal and cross-sectional design. By utilizing a longitudinal design, the study is tries to eliminate possible cohort effects of different age groups (Lezak, 2012, p. 356). The sample contains a total of 1867 observations from 1014 participants with a sex distribution of 608 women (59.96%) and 406 men (40.04%). As the study aims to investigate lifespan changes, the age covered spans from 4 to 93 years of age. The sample has a mean age of 33.8 years and standard deviation (sd) of 24.4 years. All data material, including magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans and cognitive measures were obtained from three projects at the research center of Lifespan Changes in Brain and Cognition, Department of Psychology, University of Oslo (UiO). The sample included datasets from the first and second wave of both the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Neurocognitive study (NeuroCogMoBa, (Krogsrud et al., 2016)), and the Neurocognitive Development study (NeuroCogDev, (Tamnes et al., 2010)). In addition, datasets from the first, second, third, and fourth wave of the Cognition and Plasticity through the Lifespan project (Fjell et al., 2008) were included. The NeuroCogMoBa is a subproject of the large scale Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort study (MoBa) conducted by the Norwegian Institute of Public Health (Magnus et al., 2006). The two other projects included in the study recruited participants independently via means such as newspaper advertisements and local schools and workplaces (Fjell et al., 2008; Tamnes et al., 2010).

All participants answered a structural interview to ascertain participant eligibility. The current sample was restricted to right-handed individuals. Exclusion of left-handed individuals restrict the possibility of conflicting results as atypical brain lateralization patterns are more common in left-handed individuals (M. J. Pujol et al., 1999). Several studies have also indicated that both handedness (Westerhausen et al., 2004) and degree of handedness lateralization (Luders, Cherbuin, et al., 2010) might affect callosal size. Therefore, the current study went for homogenous righty sample in order to restrict variables that affect callosal morphology. Handedness was determined via self-report. In addition, all participants included in the study were fluent Norwegian speakers and had a normal or corrected to normal hearing and vision. This was in order to conduct neuropsychological testing in Norwegian with reliable and valid results.

Furthermore, the study aims to investigate structural and functional brain development in healthy individuals. Studying alterations of relative callosal size in normal brain maturation and ageing is important because it provides a framework for later examining the possibility of deviating changes in clinical populations. Hence, all participants with neurological or neuropsychiatric conditions known to affect the central nervous system (CNS) were excluded from participation. This includes those with a history of concussions, severe head trauma and seizure disorder, as well as individuals receiving treatment for mental illnesses or using psychoactive drugs with a known effect on the CNS. Additional exclusions criteria due to both practical and ethical considerations were low birth weight, claustrophobia and any counter-indications for MRI.

2.2. Ethical considerations

Ethical clearance was received by the Regional Ethics Committee for medical research (REK-Vest or REK-Sør) for each of the studies. The participants received an information brochure about the project before attending and written informed consent was obtained from all participants above 16 years of age and by a parent or guardian if the participant was a minor. In regard to health considerations a minor is identified as below 16 years of age according to Norwegian law. Participants below this age was given special considerations when obtaining an informed consent, including an age appropriate oral explanation of the projects. All minors above the age of 12 also gave written consent in addition to their parent or guardian, while minors below the age of 12 expressed oral consent at both time points before magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and neuropsychological testing. Informed consent from eligible participants was also obtained for data integration across the original studies.

2.3. Structural magnetic resonance imaging (sMRI) acquisition

Acquisition of sMRI data was conducted at the Oslo University Hospital. Two scanners were used for sMRI. They were both Siemens Medical Solutions, Erlangen, Germany, but one scanner had a 1.5 Tesla Avanto system and the other a 3 Tesla Skyra system. Comparable 3D T1-weighted magnetization prepared rapid gradient echo (MPRAGE) sequence was obtained on both platforms. T1-weighted images are produced by a short repetition time between radio frequency (RF) pulses and a short signal recovery time (Katti, Ara, & Shireen, 2011). On the Avanto system, a 12 channel head coil was used and the sequence (repetition time, TR = 2400 ms; echo time, TE = 3.61 ms; inversion time, TI = 1000 ms; flip angle = 8 degrees)

covered 160 sagittal slices (1.2 mm thickness, 192×192 scan matrix, field of view of 240×240 mm₂), yielding an image resolution of $1.25 \times 1.25 \times 1.20$ mm₃. On the Skyra system, a 24-channel head coil was used, and a turbo field echo pulse sequence (TR/TE/TI = 2300 ms/2.98 ms/ 850 ms; flip angle = 8 degrees) with 176 sagittal slices (256×256 scan matrix) and an isometric resolution of 1 mm₃. Integrated parallel acquisition techniques (iPAT) were used for most children under nine years. This involves acquiring multiple T1-weighted scans within a short scan time in order to discard scans with residual movement and average the scans with sufficient quality. The data collection was divided between the scanners with 1408 datasets (75.4% of all) conducted with the Avanto system and the remaining 459 datasets (24.6%) conducted with the Skyra system.

2.4 Prospective and retrospective image quality control

Immediately after the data acquisition, the T1-weighted images (MPRAGE) were reviewed and screened for obvious motion artifacts by a member of the research team. If such artifacts were identified, participants were rescanned when possible. As discussed by Backhausen et al. (2016), retrospective quality control is important to rule out image distortions and excess motion artifacts that can bias the results or exclude participants from the study. This is especially important for developmental studies because of the inclusion of younger age groups as there is a negative correlation between age and increased motion artifacts (Blumenthal, Zijdenbos, Molloy, & Giedd, 2002). A more detailed quantitative rating system was introduced at the fourth wave of the Cognition and Plasticity through the Lifespan project to secure standardized rating procedures. The T1-weighted images were visually ranked on a five-point scale from no detectable artifacts to the presence of severe motion. Rescans were advised at the two worst rating scales.

To avoid motion artifacts all original studies also focused on prospective motionreduction techniques. For the NeuroCogDev project and the Cognition and Plasticity through the Lifespan project, this mostly involved preparing the participants for the scanner procedure, reminding them between image sequences about the importance of not moving during scanning and letting them listen to radio during the structural scans. For the younger children in the NeuroCogMoBa-project, even more effort was put into preparing the children for the MRI-scanning. For the first wave, this included introducing the children for a mock version of the scanner to acclimatize them to the scanner environment and decrease possible anxiety during the actual data acquisition. In addition, they were shown a video recording of a child undergoing all procedures at the scanner at the Oslo University Hospital. For the second wave, only children expressing concerns regarding the scanning were again introduced to and familiarized with the mock scanner (Krogsrud et al., 2016). For the youngest children, it was also sometimes necessary to let the parents sit in the scanning room to provide extra comfort for the child. However, if the discomfort was obvious the scanning would be stopped and the child excluded from the original study as participation was not perceived as voluntarily.

Additionally, structural scans obtained during the data collection were reviewed for gross neuroanatomic pathology by radiologist Paulina Due-Tønnesen at the Oslo University Hospital. If such pathology was present the participant would be excluded from the study.

2.5 Callosal thickness measurement

A measure of callosal thickness was determined on the midsagittal plane of the white-matter segmentation of the T1-weighted images in native space. The midsagittal surface area was measured to quantify the strength of anatomical connectivity between the hemispheres. Midsagittal surface is used as a reference because of the assumption that it reflects degree of hemispheric connectivity (J. M. Clarke & Zaidel, 1994). Also, by using the midsagittal surface instead of the parasagittal plane (Luders, Narr, Zaidel, Thompson, Jancke, et al., 2006), the study is able to consider both regional differences and compare the findings to prior research employing the same methodological approach. Callosal thickness was used as a measure of callosal size because it has higher spatial specificity than well-known geometrical-based solutions for segmentation of the midsagittal callosal area (Luders, Narr, Zaidel, Thompson, & Toga, 2006), such as the Witelson's parcellation scheme (Witelson, 1989) or the straight-line methods and curved-line methods introduced by J. M. Clarke and Zaidel (1994). In addition, individual differences in the callosal area (Luders, Narr, Zaidel, Thompson, & Toga, 2006)

In the current study, thickness measures were extracted from MRI-scans by first conducting a semi-automated segmentation of the corpus callosum and thereafter an outline-based thickness determination. This approach is based on the work of Skumlien et al. (2018), Westerhausen et al. (2016) and Westerhausen et al. (2018). Similar approaches have also been used in several prior studies, including S. Clarke et al. (1989), Luders, Narr, Zaidel, Thompson, and Toga (2006) and Walterfang et al. (2009).

The semi-automated segmentation started by conducting a rigid-body coregistration using Statistical Parametric Mapping routines (SPM12 routines, Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London, UK). This was in order to preserve the size and shape of the corpus callosum. It was implemented for the raw images of each individual image to a T1template. The primary aim of the process was to ensure a non-tilted midsagittal plane as located between the cerebral hemispheres in the longitudinal fissure. After the initial rigidbody coregistration, the midsagittal slice was identified and a preliminary segmentation of the corpus callosum was obtained. This was achieved by segmenting the reoriented images using standard SPM12 segmentation routines. From this point only the white matter maps in native space were included in the analyses. Moreover, the thickness segmentation of the corpus callosum was visually inspected for each of the observations. They were also manually corrected if necessary. This procedure was based on routines written by René Westerhausen in Matlab (MathWorks Inc. Natick, MA, USA). Manual correction was most common for instances were voxels not belonging to the corpus callosum were included in the image, which was especially frequent for the fornix. In these cases, manually determining the structural borders of the corpus callosum was needed, as well as the removal of redundant voxels. This step was followed by a manually identification of the tip of the rostrum and the base of the splenium. The tip of the rostrum was determined as the posterior-most voxel of the in-bend anterior half, while the base of splenium was recognized as the ventral-most voxel in the posterior half. In order to ensure that the imagined line between the rostrum tip and splenium base was horizontally oriented, the total callosal mask was rotated. Important to this work was avoiding over-rotating the callosal mask because this resulted in an unwanted stretching and reorientation of the structure.

Furthermore, a random sample was selected for quality control in which my supervisor René Westerhausen and myself performed these manual steps independently. The random sample consisted of 143 datasets for those participants who had available images for both Avanto (1.5T) and Skyra (3T) scanners. Inter-rater reliability was then calculated for the total number of voxels in the corpus callosum mask which represent the midsagittal surface area. This was calculated as two-way random effects, considering the single measure and absolute agreement, and resulted in intra-class correlations (ICC) of ricc=.86 and .96 for Avanto and Skyra data. While the commonly used interclass correlation coefficient measure bivariate relation of variables representing different measurements classes, ICC measure homogeneity among variables in a common class. That is, the variables share both their metric and variance (McGraw & Wong, 1996). ICC of ricc=.86 and .96 for Avanto and Skyra data is thereby indication of decent homogeneity between the scanner and rater variables.

The next step was to determine a callosal thickness measurement. In order to do this, the outline of the midsagittal plane of the corpus callosum was first determined. The identified tip of the rostrum and the base of the splenium was used to divide the ventral and dorsal part of the outline. The midline between the ventral and dorsal part of the outline was then identified by spacing 100 support points with equal distance on the two outlines. Determining the midline was essential to obtain a reference line for the thickness measurement. With the reference line, regional thickness could be measured as the distance between either the ventral or dorsal outline to the midline. The midline was determined by using 100 support points. However, the midline was resampled into 60 equally distanced points for the actual thickness measurement. The reason for selecting 60 measurement points is that it represents a compromise between the 29 and 100 measurement points which have been used in prior research (S. Clarke et al., 1989; Luders, Narr, Zaidel, Thompson, & Toga, 2006). In addition, 60 measurement points was used because the number har proven to provide high enough density of sampling points to be able to capture the callosal structure and it does not inflate the number of statistical tests more than necessary (Westerhausen et al., 2016).

In a final preprocessing step, as the present analysis aims to examine the proportionality of the corpus callosum relative to brain size across the lifespan, the raw 60 segment thickness estimates were related to the forebrain volume (see section 2.6). As illustrated by Smith (2005), the ratio of two features of a geometrically object (like the radius and volume of a sphere) only is invariant to the size of the object, if both features (numerator and denominator of the ratio) are expressed in the same unit. As callosal thickness is a measure of distance and forebrain size represents a volume, the forebrain volume was transformed by raising it to the power of 1/3 (i.e, FBV0.333) before the division. In other words, forebrain volume was converted to a unit that remains proportional to callosal thickness if the brain maintains geometric similarity with changing size. Thus, the ratio is expected to be stable across the lifespan if corpus callosum thickness changes proportional to forebrain volume. However, any positive or negative deviation from a stable ratio indicates over-proportional growth and decline of the corpus callosum. In order to supplement the current analysis, the study also calculated the ratio of segmental callosal thickness to white matter volume (WMV0.333) following the same approach.

2.6 Measurement of forebrain and white-matter volume

Forebrain volume was assessed from the T1 images using the supratentorial volume provided by the segmentation routines of Freesurfer (version 6.1, (Fischl, Sereno, & Dale, 1999)). The forebrain volume is arguably the optimal measure for the ratio of relative callosal thickness. It includes all brain structures with nerve fibers going through the callosal commissure, as well as excluding brain areas without callosal axons, such as the cerebellum and the brain stem. In addition, an extraction of the total white-matter volume was conducted of both cerebral hemispheres for the supplementary analysis.

2.7 Fitting and clustering of callosal lifespan trajectories

The lifespan trajectories of relative corpus callosum thickness were fitted using generalized additive mixed models (GAMM, "mgcv" package, v1.8-28, (Wood, 2017), in R 3.6.1) for each of the 60 segments. Generalized additive models (GAMs) was used instead of standard generalized linear modelling (GLM) because of the presence of nonlinear predictors. For each of the 60 segments, relative thickness served as dependent variable while the participants' age was the predictor of interest. Age was smoothed using cubic regression splines with the basis dimension set to 10 knots. The participants' Sex and Scanner Type were added as covariates of non-interest as part of the fixed-effects model, while a participant identifier was included as random effects (intercept). The model fitting was done using restricted maximum likelihood (REML) estimations. Effect size of the Age effect was expressed as proportion of explained variance (ω_2).

In a next step, the first derivatives of the fitted trajectories were calculated, representing the slope (i.e., the change) of the lifespan trajectories at a given age. A dissimiliarity matrix was then obtained and trajectories were submitted for a cluster analysis. Clustering was performed using the Partitioning Around Medoids (PAM) algorithm as implemented in the "cluster" R package (v2.1, (Maechler, 2019), in R 3.6.1). Cluster solutions between 2 and 10 clusters were estimated, and the mean silhouette widths was used to determine the optimal cluster solution. The resulting cluster solution was additionally inspected for their topographical organization, that is, clusters which contained thickness segments at different, non-adjacent locations where split up into sub clusters for spatial consistency. Finally, for each resulting cluster mean thickness across all segments assigned to that cluster was calculated for subsequent analysis steps.

For descriptive purposes, the lifespan trajectories of the obtained cluster mean values were also submitted to GAMM modelling using the same model as for the analysis of the

22

original segments. Then, the derivate of the fitted cluster trajectories were used to determine the estimated age marking the end of growth (EoG) and the beginning of decline (BoD). End of growth is defined as the last estimate of the slope above, while beginning of decline is defined as the first estimate of the slope below zero. Confidence intervals (95%) around the derivative trajectory served to determine where the slope deviated from zero. All the above analysis steps were also conducted for the ratio of callosal segmental thickness and WMV_{0.333}. For details see Fig. S1 and Table S3 in the supplement.

2.8 Cognitive measures and assessment

A measure of cognitive ability was collected from neuropsychological testing for an available subsample of 479 participants and a total of 1117 observations. 320 participants had available scores for two time points, while 159 were assessed at three time points. The restriction of a subsample with at least cognitive measures from two time points were necessary to be able to examine change scores on individual level. The cognitive measure collected was raw scores for both subtests Vocabulary and Matrix Reasoning from the Norwegian versions of the well-known Wechsler intelligence test battery. To assess children below the age of 6.5 years, the Wechsler Preschool and Primary Scale of Intelligence (WPPSI-III, (Wechsler, 2002)) was used. This was applicable for 131 observations. The remaining 986 observations from participants above the age of 6.5 were assessed using the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence test (WASI, (Wechsler, 1999)). All neuropsychological testing was administrated within a month of the MRI acquisition.

The subtests Vocabulary and Matrix Reasoning was used because they are wellestablished measures of higher-order cognition in clinical neuropsychology (Lezak, 2012, pp. 553-554, 632-634). Moreover, the subtests complement each other in regards of function tested. Vocabulary provides a measure of word knowledge and crystallised cognitive abilities (Lezak, 2012, p. 553). In contrast, Matrix Reasoning, provides a measure of perceptual organization and visual-spatial abilities. In this way, Matrix Reasoning assesses fluid intelligence and non-verbal abilities (Lezak, 2012, p. 633). In an effort to assess absolute cognitive ability and change, raw tests were used as a cognitive measure instead of the often used age-standardized, norm-deviation scores (Neisser, 1998; Westerhausen et al., 2018).

Lifespan trajectories of both of the cognitive variables were fitted using GAMM in an effort to confirm the premise of further analyses. In the fixed-effect part of the model, cubic regression splines were used to smooth Age. Covariates of non-interest was Sex ad test version, that is either WPPSI-II or WASI. Participant identifier was also included as a

variable of random effect (intercept). The results are illustrated in Fig. 2. For Matrix Reasoning, there is observed an inverted-u-shaped lifespan trajectory. More specifically, cognitive performance on Matrix Reasoning is characterized by a pronounced increase until the 20s. After peaking in the beginning of the 20s, the trajectory shows a slow decline in performance. This decline appears stronger after the age of 60 years (F = 134.0, effective degrees of freedom, *edf*, of 8.13, yielding a *p*<.0001, explained variance, $\omega_2 = .49$). Performance on the Vocabulary subtest also show a strong increase for the first two decades of life. However, the performance continues to increase until the age of 40 years (F = 620.6, edf = 7.87, p<.0001 ω_2 = .81). The results are in line with previous research. Both Vocabulary and Matrix Reasoning test score show age trajectories predicted from the literature (Craik & Bialystok, 2006).



Fig. 2. "The figure illustrates lifespan trajectories of cognitive variables. That is, the fitted trajectories for test scores on WASI/WPPSI subtests Matrix Reasoning and Vocabulary using generalized additive mixed modelling (GAMM). The trajectories are shown as the solid line while the 95% confidence bands are represented as the shaded area. The effective degrees of freedom, edf, was 8.13 for Matrix Reasoning and Age explained 49% of the variance in the test score. The test score for Vocabulary had an edf of 7.87 and Age explained 81% of the variance." Figure and text from "Lifespan trajectories of relative corpus callosum thickness: regional differences and cognitive relevance" by Danielsen (2020), Preprint.

2.9 Mediation analysis

The second research question address the relation of callosal and cognitive development across the lifespan. In the present analysis this was formulated as mediation hypothesis and is illustrated in Fig. 3. The question is if age-related (predictor, X) changes in cognitive abilities (dependent variable, Y), are substantially mediated by changes on corpus callosum measures (mediator, M)? To test this hypothesis, change scores for each callosal cluster and each cognitive test were calculated separately. In order to reduce the complexity of the mediation analysis, the change score mediation was preferred over using raw scores. That is, for the present between testing time intervals for which change scores were assessed (for the 320 participants with two time points the mean interval was 2.54 years with a standard deviation of 1.46 years; for the participants with 3 time points it was 7.82 ± 0.81 years), linear associations can be assumed so that non-linear associations had not to be considered during the mediation analysis. Change scores were obtained as follows. Considering cognitive and corpus callosum variables, linear regressions were fitted for each participant (i.e., across 2 and 3 individual time points) and the obtained slopes were extracted as individual change scores, representing estimated annual change in callosal and cognitive measures. The change in age was calculated as difference in age between first and last testing.



Fig. 3. "The figure shows the path diagram for the change mediation analysis model. Parameter a is the unstandardized regression weight for ΔAge for the prediction of changes in mean relative thickness within a cluster. That is, $\Delta Cluster$ Thickness which is the mediator variable. Parameter b is the regression weight for the mediator predicting the change in the dependent variable ($\Delta Cogn$ Measure). Parameter c' represents the regression weight of the

direct effect of ΔAge on the change in cognition and parameter c represents the same prediction without considering the mediator variable. The indirect effect (mediation) is estimated as combined effect a*b. As mediator served changes in mean relative thickness as obtained from all clusters (see section 3.1). Changes in Matrix Reasoning or Vocabulary test score served as dependent variables." Figure and text from "Lifespan trajectories of relative corpus callosum thickness: regional differences and cognitive relevance" by Danielsen (2020), Preprint.

The change mediation analysis was conducted using the Lavaan package (version 0.6-4, (Rosseel, 2012), in in R 3.6.1). Bootstrapping with 5000 iterations was used to estimate both p-values and parameter confidence intervals. In order to achieve a false discovery rate (FDR) of 5%, the p-values were corrected. As according to Hayes (2009) mediation analysis are only considered meaningful if there are established pairwise associations between both the predictor and mediator, as well as the mediator and dependent variable. Thus, a formal mediation analysis was only considered for the clusters showing significant associations (p<.05), which was tested using pairwise linear regressions. The mediation of change analysis was then set up as illustrated in Fig. 3. The effect of interest was the indirect (or mediation) effect, constituted by the multiplication of the coefficients of regression coefficients of pathways *a* and *b*, and will be expressed as *ab*. The total effect of the model, that is, the combined effect of change in age and the mediator on the cognitive change score, was also calculated (*c*). Effect size of all effects were expressed as ω_2 . An estimate of the proportion of variance of the age effect on cognition which is mediated via changes in callosal thickness is obtained by dividing the effect size of the indirect effect by the effect size of the total effect.

3 Results

3.1 Lifespan trajectories and clustering

Significant age-trajectories were fitted for all 60 segments of the corpus callosum. This is illustrated in Table 1 of the supplementary material. Effective degrees of freedom (edf) is between 1.00 and 6.73. Thus, there is considerable variability in the complexity between the identified callosal segments. The effect size (ω_2) of Age smooth term is between .3 and .20.

Combined, this support the notion of developmental differences between the 60 callosal segments and give grounds to further complete the cluster analysis.

The clustering analysis using PAM proposed a five-cluster solution for the trajectories of callosal segments. This was based on the local maximum in the silhouette coefficient (See fig. 4A). The result provides clusters which are organized topographically along the anterior-to-posterior division of the midsagittal surface of the corpus callosum. For illustration see Fig. 4B. Trajectories of the estimated mean and derivatives for the initial cluster solution is also illustrated in Fig. 4C.

Fig. 5 illustrates the fitted lifespan trajectories of each cluster. The first and mostanterior cluster (Cluster 1) contains five segments which are placed in the rostrum and ventral genu of the corpus callosum. These segments encompassing Cluster 1 shows an edf of 2.25 and sd. of 0.86 from the GAMM fitting. This indicate a low complexity to the segments and can best be described as a linear decline across the lifespan. The second cluster (Cluster 2) consists of segments located in the genu and the splenium of the corpus callosum. To address this spatial division between the genu and the splenium, the cluster can be separated into two sub-clusters. This is illustrated by the green segments Fig. 4B. Then, the anterior cluster (Cluster 2a) includes seven segments with a mean edf of 4.90 (\pm 0.21). The posterior cluster (Cluster 2p), on the other hand, contains three segments and has a higher mean edf of 5.54 (\pm 0.42). The trajectory analysis showed that both clusters have trajectories characterized by a slow and over-proportional increase in relative thickness until the end of growth which is assessed as the age of 24 years for Cluster 2a and 17 years for Cluster 2p. This is followed by a stable period, before a slow decline starts at the age of 43 years for Cluster 2a and 51 years for Cluster 2b. The third cluster (Cluster 3) includes all of 33 segments. The segments are located in the posterior genu, the truncus, and the isthmus. In addition, two single segments were included in Cluster 3. They represented spatial outliers as one was situated in the genu and the other in the splenium (cf. Fig. 4B). As they were spatially located far from the main cluster segments, they were not included in further analyses. The remaining 31 segments which was included in Cluster 3 had a mean complexity of edf = 4.67 (\pm 0.27). The cluster trajectory showed that relative thickness increases until approximately 22 years of age. As with Cluster 2a and 2b, this is followed by a plateau. A slow decline begins at the age of 41 years and continue into older age. The fourth cluster (Cluster 4) contains 8 segments in the dorsal part of the splenium. It has an average edf of 6.34 (± 0.08) and is characterized by an increase in the mean ratio until the age of 23 years. It is immediately followed by a slow decline. However, this decline is not significant until 53 years of age. In the end, Cluster 5

includes four segments in the ventral splenium, which is the most posterior part of the corpus callosum. With an edf of 6.53 (\pm 0.16), Cluster 5 shows the highest complexity. The trajectory analysis further demonstrated that Cluster 5 is characterized by a clear increase in relative thickness until the age of 23 years. This is followed by a longer period with a stable ratio as compared to the prior clusters. Cluster 5 shows a significant decline first at the age of 59 years.

Supplementary cluster analysis and results for WMV are illustrated in Fig. S1 and Table S3 in the supplement. There was proposed a four-cluster solution for the ratio of segmental callosal thickness and WMV0.333. There spatial distribution for WMV is mostly consistent with the original analysis for forebrain volume. However, in the WMV-analysis the splenium is included in one cluster, as compared to the forebrain volume analysis where it is separated in two clusters



Fig. 4. "The figure shows the initial PAM clustering of the callosal segments based on the first derivative of the lifespan trajectories. Dependent variable was callosal thickness relative to total forebrain volume. Panel A shows the silhouette coefficient for cluster solutions between two to ten clusters. Here a five cluster solution was selected as it showed a clear peak in the silhouette coefficient and yielded a consistent cluster topography as seen in Panel

B. Panel B depicts the segment-wise color-coded topography of the clusters within the corpus callosum (left: anterior) for the five cluster solution. Black arrows indicate the location which divides the corpus callosum into thirds relative to the anterior-posterior length. This marks the subdivision approach suggested by Witelson (1989). Panel C presents the lifespan trajectories of mean relative thickness (top row) and their first derivatives (bottom row) for each segment (different lines) per cluster. Bold black lines in each graph represents the mean trajectory. Of note, positive values in the derivative plots indicate an over-proportional growth of relative thickness while negative values indicate an over-proportional decline." Figure and text from "Lifespan trajectories of relative corpus callosum thickness: regional differences and cognitive relevance" by Danielsen (2020), Preprint.



Fig. 5. "The figure illustrates the fitted lifespan trajectories of mean relative callosal thickness (solid line; shaded area 95% confidence bands) for the final cluster solution. Colors correspond to the color coding used in Figure 4B and C. For details see Results section." Figure and text from "Lifespan trajectories of relative corpus callosum thickness: regional differences and cognitive relevance" by Danielsen (2020), Preprint.

3.2 Corpus callosum and cognitive abilities

With six identified clusters and two cognitive variables, there was a possibility of twelve combinations for the mediation analysis. Only six out of twelve combinations showed a pairwise association of change in relative callosal thickness and change in age, as well as having significant values for both cognitive changes and relative callosal thickness (see Table 2). In result, these six combinations were considered for the mediation analysis. The mediation effect was again only significant for two of these combinations (see Table 1).

Firstly, the mediation effect is significant for Cluster 1, Age changes and the Vocabulary score. That is, change in relative thickness in cluster 4 significantly mediated the effect of Age changes on the Vocabulary test (indirect effect: ab = -0.05, s.e. = 0.02, Z = -2.5, $p_{corr} = .049$, CI95% = [-0.090, -0.012]. 1% of the variance is explained by Cluster 1. The total effect was significant (c = -0.43, s.e. = 0.05, Z = -8.94, p_{corr} < .001) and had an effect size of $\omega_2 = 0.14$. Hence, about 7% of the total effect is explained by the indirect effect.

Secondly, the mediation effect is significant for Cluster 4 and the Matrix Reasoning score (ab = -0.04, s.e. = 0.02, Z = -2.40, $p_{corr} = .049$, CI95% = [-0.073, -0.007]). The effect size was .1 (ω_2). The total effect was significant (c = -0.19, s.e. = 0.04, Z = -5.08, $p_{corr} < .001$), with an effect size of $\omega_2 = .049$. Hence, 20% of the total effect was explained by the indirect effect for the mediation analysis with Cluster 1 and Matrix reasoning. The indirect effect was not significant in the other four analysis conducted (all $p_{corr} > 0.169$, all $\omega_2 < 0.004$). Details of the results of the change mediation analysis are shown in Table 1.

Dep. Variable	Cluster	Path a		Path b		Path c' (direct)		Path c (total)		Path ab (indirect)	
		b-value	р	b-value	р	b-value	р	b-value	р	b-value	р
Matrix Reason.	2p	-0.012	< 0.001*	1.199	0.104	-0.174	<0.001*	-0.188	< 0.001*	-0.014	0.150
	4	-0.019	<0.001*	2.068	0.012*	-0.148	<0.001*	-0.188	<0.001*	-0.040	0.016*
Vocabulary	3	-0.008	<0.001*	2.56	0.131	-0.406	<0.001*	-0.427	<0.001*	-0.021	0.177
	2p	-0.012	<0.001*	1.913	0.039	-0.405	<0.001*	-0.427	<0.001*	-0.022	0.085
	4	-0.019	<0.001*	2.594	0.008*	-0.377	<0.001*	-0.427	<0.001*	-0.05	0.012*
	5	-0.018	< 0.001*	0.766	0.36	-0.413	< 0.001*	-0.427	< 0.001*	-0.014	0.384

Tabell 1. Results of the change mediation analysis. From "Lifespan trajectories of relative corpus callosum thickness: regional differences and cognitive relevance" by Danielsen (2020), Preprint.

4 Discussion

4.1 General pattern of callosal growth

Hemispheric interconnectivity, as measured through the corpus callosum, has been a subject of investigation for several decades (Gazzaniga, 2014, pp. 121-159; van Der Knaap & van Der Ham, 2011). Numerous studies have established that the connective structure undergoes significant developmental changes across the entire lifespan. These studies suggest that callosal thickness follow an inverted-u-shaped trajectory of growth and decline. Total callosal thickness increases substantially until it peaks in the third decade of life. This is suggested by both histological, MRI and diffusion imaging studies (Hasan et al., 2009; Lebel et al., 2010; Prendergast et al., 2015; J. Pujol et al., 1993; Yeatman et al., 2014). The peak in total callosal thickness is followed by a period of relative stability before it starts declining about the age of 60 (Doraiswamy et al., 1991; Hasan, Kamali, et al., 2008; Hou & Pakkenberg, 2012; D. Salat et al., 1997; Sullivan et al., 2010). This line of research is characterized by several methodological challenges. One important challenge is the lack of consistency in ways of controlling for parallel change in callosal size and brain sizes, also referred to as the issue of proportionality. In an effort to address this issue, the present study examines relative callosal thickness across the lifespan, shown as the ratio between callosal thickness and brain size measures such as forebrain volume. The findings are consistent with the general pattern of change in the corpus callosum, but they also provide important specifications and details to the literature.

The findings demonstrate that lifespan changes in callosal size are not proportional to changes in forebrain size. In other words, callosal thickness does not follow the exact trajectory of change as forebrain volume. There is observed an over-proportional increase in relative callosal thickness in most callosal segments from childhood until young adulthood. This is demonstrated by an increase in the ratio of callosal thickness to forebrain volume in this period of life. As callosal growth continue until the late teenage years and first half of the twenties, end of growth is reached in the third decade of life. However, the specific age of end of growth in the corpus callosum does depend on the subsection studied (discussed in section 4.2). In older age, the present findings demonstrate an over-proportional decline of relative hemispheric connectivity. This is indicated by a substantial decrease in the ratio of callosal thickness to forebrain volume in this age period. This finding of an inverted-u-shaped trajectory

of callosal size is in line with prior studies which controlled for parallel change by using brain size measures as covariates in statistical analysis (Prendergast et al., 2015), as well as studies using diffusion parameters (Hasan, Ewing-Cobbs, et al., 2008; Hasan et al., 2009; Lebel, Walker, Leemans, Phillips, & Beaulieu, 2008).

Previous studies have examined change in relative callosal measures in healthy participants (Rauch & Jinkins, 1994; D. Salat et al., 1997; Skumlien et al., 2018). For instance, D. Salat et al. (1997) controlled for the supratentorial area compared to callosal size in older age while studying sex differences in the corpus callosum. Thus, their findings only relate to individuals from 65 to 95 years of age and does not represent the entire lifespan. However, these observations are in line with the current findings of an overproportional decline in relative callosal size in the elderly. Rauch and Jinkins (1994) examined callosal thickness relative to cerebral area in a wider age group spanning from 0 to 87 years of age. In this way, they were able to represent a complete lifespan. Nevertheless, their study relied solely on cross-sectional data and in their article, they did not specify the spread of the younger age groups. A more recent study by Skumlien et al. (2018) did include both cross-sectional and longitudinal data, but had a rather small sample size. The present findings are able to extend on prior research utilizing relative callosal size by including a large sample size (1867 datasets), a lifespan perspective with participants between 4 and 93 years of age and a mixed model design with both cross-sectional and longitudinal data.

Although the present study has important methodological contributions, it is unable to empirically study the neurobiological mechanisms thought to mediate structural changes in hemispheric interconnectivity. A number of studies have advanced on this aspect demonstrating that increased callosal thickness during development likely reflects an increase in axon myelination or axon diameter. It is unlikely that this increase reflects the formation of new axons considering that the number of axons is fixed at birth and decreases across the lifespan (S. Clarke et al., 1989; Innocenti & Price, 2005; LaMantia & Rakic, 1990). In contrast, the changes seen in older age are likely driven by both alterations of axon myelination and a decrease in the number of callosal axons. This has been documented by histological studies in both humans and other primates (Aboitiz, Rodriguez, Olivares, & Zaidel, 1996; Hou & Pakkenberg, 2012; A. Peters & Sethares, 2002).

4.2 Regional callosal lifespan trajectories

Looking beyond the general pattern, the current study demonstrates that corpus callosum has regional specific lifespan trajectories. Five clusters were identified which are roughly located

32

on the anterior to posterior dimension and represent unique age trajectories. The findings demonstrate a marked deviant age trajectory for Cluster 1, which encompass the rostrum and parts of the ventral genu. There is observed a significant increase in relative callosal thickness into young adulthood in clusters 2-5, while Cluster 1 is characterized by a slow decline in relative callosal thickness across the entire lifespan.

Another noteworthy observation is that comparable age trajectories differ based on anterior or posterior location on the callosal structure. The study observes that posterior clusters 4 and 5, which are located in the splenium, differ significantly from the more anterior clusters. That is, clusters 2a, 2b and 3 which encompass the genu truncus and isthmus. The anterior-posterior distinction is illustrated by two important differences. Firstly, the posterior corpus callosum experience a more prominent growth in relative thickness during development (illustrated in Fig 4C). Secondly, there is an approximately 10-year delay in decline of relative callosal thickness for posterior regions compared to the anterior sections of the corpus callosum. It is also interesting that when using WMV rather than FBV as denominator in the ratio, the accentuation of maturation in posterior corpus callosum is especially prominent (illustrated in supplement, Fig. S1). The posterior cluster which includes the entire splenium was also the only cluster demonstrating significant developmental growth in relative thickness in the studied age period for the WMV analysis.

The observed differences between anterior and posterior callosal age trajectories are in line with the previous literature. Prior research have reported both a stronger posterior compared to anterior callosal development during childhood and adolescence (Giedd et al., 1999; Luders, Thompson, et al., 2010; Rajapakse et al., 1996; Thompson et al., 2000; Westerhausen et al., 2016) and an earlier decline in anterior as compared to posterior sections in older age (Madden et al., 2009; Salami et al., 2012; D. H. Salat et al., 2005; Sullivan et al., 2006). It is noteworthy that this tendency is observed in both studies using brain size as covariate and relative callosal measures, perhaps indicating that regional findings between anterior and posterior trajectories are not substantially masked by the issue of proportionality discussed in the current study.

4.3 Functional hemispheric neural networks

It can be argued that the observed anterior to posterior distinction of callosal ageing trajectories reflect the development of different functional hemispheric neural networks. This is especially likely as the callosal topography is comparable to the organization of the cerebral cortex (Zarei et al., 2006). Research illustrate how the splenium and other posterior callosal subregions encompass axons interconnecting parietal, temporal and occipital regions of the cerebral cortex (Schmahmann & Pandya, 2006). Hence, these connections are relevant for both attentional processes (Bozzali et al., 2012; Tomaiuolo et al., 2010) and the integration of sensory information between the hemispheres (E. Genc, Bergmann, Singer, & Kohler, 2011; Westerhausen, Gruner, Specht, & Hugdahl, 2009). Anterior regions, on the other hand, are relevant for higher order cognition as subsections like the genu and truncus encompass connections between prefrontal cortical areas (Schmahmann & Pandya, 2006). It has been documented that anterior connections are highly active in the production of language, as well as processing of semantic information (Putnam, Wig, Grafton, Kelley, & Gazzaniga, 2008; Thiel et al., 2006). This entails that it is likely that the anterior connections of the corpus callosum support a neural network of higher order cognition, including language processes, while posterior connections are more involved in a cortical network of perceptual processes.

Furthermore, as these neural networks are related to different callosal aging trajectories, they could also represent different functional needs across the lifespan. For instance, it is observed an earlier decline in anterior callosal regions supporting higher order cognitive functions compared to posterior sections supporting perceptual functions. Perhaps then, the splenium is protected against detectable decline in older age because of its involvement in basic perception processes and not higher-order cognition (Madden et al., 2009; Scally, Burke, Bunce, & Delvenne, 2018). However, this is not in line with research showing an earlier decline of fluid intelligence and problem solving capacities as compared to crystalized intelligence and verbal functions in elderly (Craik & Bialystok, 2006). Perhaps the cognitive compensation hypothesis (Morcom & Johnson, 2015) and increased bilateral hemispheric activity in older adults (Cabeza et al., 1997) could shed some light on this issue. Is it possible that the maintenance of crystalized intelligence and verbal abilities is a result of specific neural compensation for these functions in elderly?

It is also possible that the regional specific age trajectories in the corpus callosum are related to regional axon composition. Histological studies indicate that anterior callosal subsections are predominated by thin axons which are lightly myelinated. In contrast, posterior regions of the corpus callosum, such as the truncus and splenium, consist of thicker axons which are more strongly myelinated (Aboitiz et al., 1992; Björnholm et al., 2017; Riise & Pakkenberg, 2011). Hence, the regional specific trajectories of the corpus callosum might reflect different myelination processes. The posterior callosal growth until third decade of life

could reflect increased axon myelination compared to anterior nerve fibers which both have thinner and less myelinated axons and does not show the same trajectory of accentuated early growth. Another possibility is that the myelination process is completed at an earlier age for anterior regions. This seems likely as for instance the anterior corpus callosum encompass connections between motor and sensorimotor regions which are known to develop at an early age. In contrast, it is not as likely for connections between higher order cognition since the frontal lobes are shown to continue maturing until the third decade of life (Arain et al., 2013; Casey, Jones, & Hare, 2008). Perhaps then, less myelination of frontal connections represents a functional need of interhemispheric transfer time. Is it possible that higher order functions as represented by the frontal lobes and anterior callosal connections are less reliant on fast hemispheric interaction compared to connections in a perceptual neural network?

4.4 Implications for callosal subdivision

The establishment of regional specific lifespan trajectories of the corpus callosum could have implications for callosal subdivision, in particular because these trajectories likely reflect functional neural networks. Given the lack of clear macroscopic anatomical landmarks partitioning callosal areas, several parcellation schemes have been designed to divide the corpus callosum and guide research on the connective structure (M. Peters et al., 2002). Most of these approaches are based on a geometrical subdivision of the midsagittal callosal surface (S. Clarke et al., 1989; Duara et al., 1991; Rajapakse et al., 1996; Weis, Kimbacher, Wenger, & Neuhold, 1993). This includes the widely employed Witelson's classification which suggests dividing the callosal structure into thirds along its rostro-caudal extent of the midsagittal plane (Hofer & Frahm, 2006; Witelson, 1989). The result is a roughly identification of the genu, truncus, and splenium (the division is indicated by arrows in Fig. 3B). As the Witelson's classification is based on research on primates, it is reasonable to question the validity of the approach when used on human brains. This notion is further supported by evidence that the subdivision is only roughly associated with cortical regions relevant to the functional asymmetry in humans. Given that the regions overlap considerably, it is likely that the boundaries have reduced accuracy in describing structural changes in the corpus callosum and its functional consequences (Hofer & Frahm, 2006; M. Peters et al., 2002; Witelson, 1989).

Based on the current findings, it is argued a need to reformulate callosal segmentation to concur with recent research and a more refined agreement with functional cortical asymmetry. The present clustering solution offer an appealing subdivision of the corpus

35

callosum into five sections. These areas are defined in accordance with regional developmental trajectories as compared to the former geometrically derived segmentation models. The benefit of this approach is the likely increased association between structure and function. Comparable regional age trajectories can be argued to reflect inclusion in related functional hemispheric neural networks. In this way, the age trajectories can be considered as a data-driven approach to segmenting the callosal structure from within and in relation to functional brain networks. However, the resulting subdivision differs partially from previously suggested subdivisions and will consequently not benefit from direct comparisons with previous research in the field. Still, the thesis argues for the importance of a more correct subdivision to advance research in the field. A subdivision with increased relation between structure and function would contribute significantly to the study of structural and functional hemispheric connectivity as it ensures valuable interactions that can enhance our understanding in the field.

Previous work has tried to improve callosal subdivision by introducing various methods for segmentation. One suggestion has been to utilize results from diffusion MRI and tractography to inform callosal subdivision. This approach divide the corpus callosum according to the origin of reconstructed fiber pathways (Hofer & Frahm, 2006). Hofer and Frahm (2006) modified the Witelson's parcellation scheme based on findings using diffusion tensor imaging (DTI). One of the major differences compared to the standard Witelson's parcellation scheme was a more posterior crossing of callosal motor and sensory fiber bundles. Hence, Hofer and Frahm (2006) was able to modify the existing division to a somewhat more representative version in regard to callosal topography. This approach appears promising, but tractography studies suffer from several restrictions including difficulties reconstructing fiber pathways using existing imaging sequences and tracking algorithms. This is particularly vulnerable when analyzing the corpus callosum since the suggested tractography-based parcellation schemes are mainly based on connections originating from the midsagittal surface and thereby missing most of the lateral callosal connections (Hasan et al., 2009; Lebel et al., 2010; Sullivan et al., 2010).

Other promising attempts to subdivide the corpus callosum into anatomically and functionally distinct subareas are based on factor analytic techniques combined with traced MRI images (Denenberg, Kertesz, & Cowell, 1991; M. Peters et al., 2002). Studies using these techniques have in general agreed on a stable 6 or 7 factor solution (M. Peters et al., 2002). This method has been criticized by the lack of evidence documenting relation between factor structure and function. A direct mapping of the factor-defined callosal regions and

36

anatomical connections has been difficult. This is demonstrated in studies using both human data (de Lacoste et al., 1985) and anatomical analysis in other animals (Pandya & Seltzer, 1986). It is also complicated by the existence of heterotypical callosal connections since this means anatomical region and function does not always correlate (M. Peters et al., 2002).

Our study differs from most geometrically based subdivision approaches, DTI and tractography informed subdivision and subgrouping-based factor analytic methods by including a lifespan perspective and regional specific age trajectories to inform on relations between structure and function. Although the current approach requires more research to reaffirm its merits, it does demonstrate an appealing solution to restrictions shown in prior attempts to increase connection between the suggested regional callosal subsections and functional relevance.

4.5 Cognitive consequences

The study further examined cognitive consequences of changes in relative callosal thickness. As illustrated in Table 1, parameter *b* is positive in the mediation analysis, which suggests that relative callosal thickness mediates age-related changes in cognitive performance. More specifically, that proportionality of increase and decline across the lifespan modify changes in cognitive performance. An increase in relative callosal thickness is associated with an increase in cognitive performance, while a decline is associated with a decrease in performance. This indicates that increased callosal size has beneficial effects on cognition. The finding is in line with prior studies reporting positive associations between callosal measures and intellectual abilities. A number of cross-sectional studies have demonstrated a correlation between performance on standard intelligence tests and callosal morphology in both developing and adult samples (Chiang et al., 2009; Dunst et al., 2014; Luders et al., 2007; Tang et al., 2010; Westerhausen et al., 2018). As with callosal development, the current study contributes to the already existing literature by including ratios of relative callosal measures in a mixed model design with both cross-sectional and longitudinal data.

However, the mediation effects were only significant for the dorsal part of the splenium (Cluster 4). This indicate a regional specific relationship between higher-order cognition and relative callosal thickness in posterior regions of the corpus callosum. Prior research has provided evidence of a dynamic and possible age specific relationship between callosal size and cognitive performance. For instance, D. Salat et al. (1997) suggested that because of observed regional differences, a larger callosal size might not be equivalent to increased cognitive performance across the lifespan. Our research is also in line with the

work of Luders et al. (2007), as they demonstrated a special relevance of posterior callosal regions to intellectual abilities in adults. However, Luders et al. (2007) measured relative cognitive performance by using age-standardized, norm deviation scores. The current study illustrated the contribution of posterior corpus callosum in absolute cognitive performance.

The findings are complicated by the notion that comparable age trajectories represent different neural networks in the cerebral cortex. Given that a neural network of higher-order cognition is thought to be represented by anterior callosal age trajectories, it is a natural assumption that the size of anterior callosal regions should be most involved in mediating intellectual abilities. This is not in consensus with the present finding that the posterior corpus callosum has the largest involvement in mediating cognitive performance for both subtests Matrix Reasoning and Vocabulary. However, it does give support to the Parieto-Frontal Integration Theory (P-FIT) of intelligence which argue for a broad neural substrate supporting intellectual abilities beyond the influence of the frontal lobes (Jung & Haier, 2007).

Given that the mediation effects only explain about 1% of the variance, the cognitive relevance of changes in relative callosal thickness could be interpreted as small or negligible. However, there is a clear indication of a stronger contribution between relative callosal thickness and test score on Matrix Reasoning, as compared to the Vocabulary subtest score. There was only a 7% observed contribution of relative callosal size to changes in scores on the Vocabulary subtest score. In contrast, the Matrix Reasoning score has a total effect of 5% explained variance. Hence, 20% of the total effect of ageing on cognitive changes (parameter c) is explained by changes in relative callosal thickness. This is arguably a noteworthy contribution and considerably stronger than for the Vocabulary score. Prior research supports the special relevance observed for the Matrix Reasoning subtest. For instance, one recent meta-analysis by Westerhausen and Karud (2018) indicated that performance IQ was affected by callosotomy, but verbal IQ scores had no observed effect. Both this work and the findings of Westerhausen and Karud (2018) could reflect the topography of the corpus callosum. The Matrix Reasoning subtest measure perceptual abilities to a greater extent than the Vocabulary subtest (Lezak, 2012, pp. 553-554, 632-634). Due to this it is natural to expect a larger involvement of posterior callosal regions representing a cortical neural network of perception in Matrix Reasoning as compared to Vocabulary.

There is also a possibility that the small mediation effects are a result of the cognitive measure included in the study. As neither the Vocabulary or Matrix Reasoning test are timed, they are possibly not the best instruments for assessing callosal functioning and hemispheric

interconnectivity. Prior studies has demonstrated that the association of white-matter volume and intellectual abilities is mediated by general information-processing speed (Penke et al., 2012). This indicate the importance of including timed cognitive measures when estimating the cognitive consequences of callosal morphology. It is likely that by including tests with high demand on fast stimulus processing, we would get larger mediation effects between relative callosal size and cognition (Kennedy & Raz, 2009; Salami et al., 2012). As processing speed was not included in the study, this hypothesis remains to be tested by future studies in the field.

4.6 Validity of the cognitive measures

There are several procedural considerations of neuropsychological testing that might affect the validity of current findings. An assessment of characteristics defining the participants included in the original studies is necessary to conclude on the generalizability of the cognitive measures in the current study. There might be systematic differences between individuals choosing to participate in research, which could question the representativeness of our findings to the general population. Individuals choosing to participate in research tend to have good health and high social status (Lezak, 2012, p. 356). As education is related to neuropsychological functioning (Lezak, 2012, pp. 376-377) and intelligence scores (Strenze, 2007), this tendency will likely skew the scores on subtests Vocabulary and Matrix Reasoning upwards. Nevertheless, we argue that a valid measurement of intelligence or ability level in relation to the rest of the population is not important for the aim of the present analysis which is to examine degree of change and stability during the lifespan.

Given that the study includes longitudinal data from serial neuropsychological testing, there is a possibility of practice related measurement errors, also referred to as retest effects (Lezak, 2012, p. 138). Retest effects encompass a collection of factors which result in an advantage from prior testing, such as learned strategies, memory of test items and decreased situational anxiety (Calamia, Markon, & Tranel, 2012; Lezak, 2012, p. 138). A failure to account for practice related factors could result in an erroneous conclusion regarding cognitive stability and change across the lifespan (Calamia et al., 2012). As of 2014 there was no available formal investigation of retest effects on the administration of WASI in Norwegian samples (Siqveland, Dalsbø, Harboe, & Leiknes, 2014), and to the author's knowledge there has not been attempted to conduct one since. Moreover, healthy subjects are especially susceptible to practice effects with repeated testing (Lezak, 2012, p. 138), in this

39

way making our sample particularly vulnerable. Given that many studies examining practice effects have short test-retest intervals (Beglinger et al., 2005; Benedict & Zgaljardic, 1998), it is natural to question their generalizability to the current design, where retesting tended to be administrated after a few years. However, a longitudinal study by Salthouse, Schroeder, and Ferrer (2004) has demonstrated that retest effects are not eliminated until at least seven years after the first assessment. In addition, studies have addressed possible differences in retest effect based on age with diverging conclusion (Scharfen, Peters, & Holling, 2018). Although the retest effects of the present study are unknown, advantages of testing are unlikely to have large between-subject variability. Studies demonstrate that the greatest practice effects occur between the first and second neuropsychological examination (Benedict & Zgaljardic, 1998; Ivnik et al., 1999), which all participants in the present study completed.

Furthermore, participants underwent testing either at daytime or after work and school obligations in the evening. The latter might affect the participants' motivation or ability to use cognitive resources due to tiredness. In addition, the test protocols included extensive measures of different cognitive functions, often making the testing period last several hours depending on the project and project wave. To cancel out these variables frequent breaks were advised, and all tests were validated by the test administer for obvious signs of tiredness or decreased motivation. Research does indicate that motivation during neuropsychological testing in research settings vary significantly between subjects and might affect the validity of the intelligence scores (Angela Lee, Patrick, Donald, Rolf, & Magda, 2011). Other common sources of errors relevant to neuropsychological assessment are differences between technicians administrating testing and punching mistakes of data material (Lezak, 2012, p. 139). These sources may also apply to the current study despite efforts to ensure standardized procedures and control for mistakes.

4.7 Further limitations and future directions

In the end, a few limitations regarding the study design and sample will be presented. Although the findings greatly contribute to a lifespan perspective on relative callosal size, the sample does not include participants below the age of 4 years. Thus, the youngest age group is not adequately represented in the present study. Given that early postnatal development is a period of life shown to be particularly important to callosal maturation (S. Clarke et al., 1989; Rakic & Yakovlev, 1968; Tanaka-Arakawa et al., 2015; Vannucci et al., 2017), dismissing the youngest age group have implications for both the suggested clustering solution and callosal subdivision. It could also affect the analysis regarding cognitive consequences of structural changes in the corpus callosum. Future studies on relative callosal size should therefore seek to include the youngest developmental samples. This is especially encouraged as this period of life, to the author's knowledge, has not been studied systematically for relative callosal size.

Additionally, the study systematically excluded left-handed individuals in order to control for possible variations of functional hemispheric lateralization. In result, the findings are only applicable to right-handed individuals. Limitations of the study include selfreporting as a method for assessing handedness and the following assumed lateralization based on this knowledge. It is widely acknowledged in the literature that simply asking for preferred handedness is not sufficient if the aim is to ensure a valid assessment (Lezak, 2012, p. 368). A more comprehensive method is necessary. Variations of the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (EHI (Oldfield, 1971)), are the most well-used self-report measure for handedness (Edlin et al., 2015). It incorporates questions from several relevant aspects, including preferred hand for writing, drawing, brushing teeth and preferred foot for kicking a ball (Oldfield, 1971). Even with a seemingly more valid assessment of handedness, it is still problematic to make inferences about hemispheric asymmetry based on self-reported handedness. Research has documented that approximately 90% of right-handed individuals have a left hemispheric dominance for language and right-hemispheric dominance for spatial attention (M. J. Pujol et al., 1999). In this way, a study sample exclusively consisting of righthanded participants has a smaller probability of including individuals with an atypical lateralization pattern, compared to samples with left-handed individuals as well. However, there is still a possibility of including participants which self-identify as right-handed but have an atypical lateralization pattern. This illustrate how assessing hemispheric asymmetry in individuals is highly intricate as most methods are based on inferences about outer behavior as an indication of inner structural organization. Consequently, the present study is not able to dismiss the possibility that atypical functional hemispheric patterns affect the present analysis and findings. Studying relative callosal development in both left-handed and right-handed individuals, as well as in people with both typical and atypical lateralization patterns can provide essential information on differences between these groups. However, this will require a well thought-out method of assessing and controlling for hemispheric asymmetry.

Furthermore, the current study investigates relative callosal thickness in normal developing and aging samples. In this way, the study is able to provide a much-needed control group for investigating the possibility of abnormal developmental trajectories in

neurological or neuropsychiatric populations seen to be affected by changes in callosal morphology. A number of studies have examined callosal involvement in neurodevelopmental and degenerative disorders such as Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) (Brambilla et al., 2003; Paul, 2011; Prigge et al., 2013; Travers et al., 2015; Wolff et al., 2015), Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) (Gilliam et al., 2011; Krain & Castellanos, 2006; Paul, 2011), schizophrenia (Zhuo, Liu, Wang, Tian, & Tang, 2016) and Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Walterfang et al., 2014; Zhu et al., 2014). As these studies do not utilize relative callosal size, comparisons with developmental trajectories in the current study are restricted. Interestingly, one longitudinal study by Gilliam et al. (2011) found an indication of deviant growth trajectories in anterior parts of corpus callosum in patients with ADHD. The disruption of growth was assumed to reflect a possible disruption in the development of the prefrontal cortex. This indicate a need of to further shed light on the relationship between regional specific developmental trajectories and functional hemispheric connectivity in neurological and neuropsychological populations.

In summary, limitations of the current study design and sample include a restricted age group for younger participants and the assumed hemispheric homogeneity of an exclusive right-handed sample. Moreover, the study is not able to compare the current findings to abnormal trajectories in clinical populations. This could provide valuable insight into the relationship between structure and function during development. Thus, a future focus on increasing the generalizability of the research is important in order to ensure a complete view on hemispheric interconnectivity and structural development of the corpus callosum.

5 Conclusion

In conclusion, the present mixed longitudinal and cross-sectional study contributes to research on the development of hemispheric interconnectivity by providing a descriptive account of lifespan changes in relative callosal size in neurologically and neuropsychiatric healthy individuals. The current findings support the general pattern of an inverted-u-shaped trajectory of callosal development. In an effort to address the issue of proportionality, the study also demonstrates an over-proportional increase of callosal thickness compared to forebrain volume in childhood and adolescence, which is mirrored by an over-proportional decline in older age. The study further observed regional specific lifespan trajectories of relative callosal thickness. These trajectories differ substantially on the anterior-to-posterior division of the corpus callosum with an accentuated increase in relative callosal thickness until the third decade and 10-year delay of the beginning of decline in posterior callosal regions. This anterior-to-posterior division is likely a reflection of functional hemispheric neural networks. The thesis suggests a modification of the well-established Witelson's parcellation scheme in line with the present clustering solution as it ensures a closer relation between structure and function of the corpus callosum. Finally, the study demonstrates that increased relative callosal thickness has a beneficial effect on cognitive performance with posterior callosal regions mediating performance on higher-order cognitive measures. Taken together, the present study contributes with important insight into the lifespan development of structural hemispheric interconnectivity. It also provides valuable reference data of callosal development in healthy individuals. A future investigation of relative callosal developmental trajectories in clinical populations could further shed light on the importance of callosal development and its contribution to cognition.

6 References

- Abe, O., Masutani, Y., Aoki, S., Yamasue, H., Yamada, H., Kasai, K., . . . Ohtomo, K. (2004). Topography of the Human Corpus Callosum Using Diffusion Tensor Tractography. *Journal of Computer Assisted Tomography*, 28(4), 533-539. doi:10.1097/00004728-200407000-00016
- Aboitiz, F., Rodriguez, E., Olivares, R., & Zaidel, E. (1996). Age-related changes in fibre composition of the human corpus callosum: sex differences. *NeuroReport*, 7(11), 1761-1764. doi:10.1097/00001756-199607290-00013
- Aboitiz, F., Scheibel, A. B., Fisher, R. S., & Zaidel, E. (1992). Fiber composition of the human corpus callosum. *Brain Research*, 598(1-2), 143-153. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(92)90178-C
- Allen, J. S., Bruss, J., Brown, C. K., & Damasio, H. (2005). Normal neuroanatomical variation due to age: The major lobes and a parcellation of the temporal region. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 26(9), 1245-1260. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2005.05.023
- Allin, M., Nosarti, C., Narberhaus, A., Walshe, M., Frearson, S., Kalpakidou, A., . . . Murray, R. (2007). Growth of the Corpus Callosum in Adolescents Born Preterm. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 161(12), 1183-1189. doi:10.1001/archpedi.161.12.1183
- Angela Lee, D., Patrick, D. Q., Donald, R. L., Rolf, L., & Magda, S.-L. (2011). Role of test motivation in intelligence testing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(19), 7716. doi:10.1073/pnas.1018601108
- Ansado, J., Collins, L., Fonov, V., Garon, M., Alexandrov, L., Karama, S., . . . Brain Development Cooperative, G. (2015). A new template to study callosal growth shows specific growth in anterior and posterior regions of the corpus callosum in early childhood. *Eur J Neurosci*, 42(1), 1675-1684. doi:10.1111/ejn.12869
- Arain, M., Haque, M., Johal, L., Mathur, P., Nel, W., Rais, A., . . . Sharma, S. (2013). Maturation of the adolescent brain. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 2013(default), 449-461.
- Backhausen, L. L., Herting, M. M., Buse, J., Roessner, V., Smolka, M. N., & Vetter, N. C. (2016). Quality Control of Structural MRI Images Applied Using FreeSurfer-A Hands-On Workflow to Rate Motion Artifacts. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 10. doi:10.3389/fnins.2016.00558
- Banich, M. T. (1998a). Integration of Information Between the Cerebral Hemispheres. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 7(1), 32-37. doi:10.1111/1467-8721.ep11521844
- Banich, M. T. (1998b). The Missing Link: The Role of Interhemispheric Interaction in Attentional Processing. *Brain and Cognition*, 36(2), 128-157. doi:10.1006/brcg.1997.0950
- Banich, M. T., & Belger, A. (1990). Interhemispheric interaction: how do the hemispheres divide and conquer a task? *Cortex*, 26(1), 77-94. doi:10.1016/s0010-9452(13)80076-7

- Banich, M. T., & Belger, A. (1991). Inter- versus intrahemispheric concordance of judgments in a nonexplicit memory task. *Brain and Cognition*, 15(1), 131-137. doi:10.1016/0278-2626(91)90021-Y
- Banich, M. T., & Brown, W. S. (2000). A Life-Span Perspective on Interaction Between the Cerebral Hemispheres. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 18(1), 1-10. doi:10.1207/S15326942DN1801_1
- Banich, M. T., Passarotti, A. M., & Janes, D. (2000). Interhemispheric Interaction During Childhood: I. Neurologically Intact Children. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 18(1), 33-51. doi:10.1207/S15326942DN1801_3
- Baynes, K., Eliassen, J. C., Lutsep, H. L., & Gazzaniga, M. S. (1998). Modular organization of cognitive systems masked by interhemispheric integration. *Science*, 280(5365), 902-905. doi:10.1126/science.280.5365.902
- Beglinger, L. J., Gaydos, B., Tangphao-Daniels, O., Duff, K., Kareken, D. A., Crawford, J., . . Siemers, E. R. (2005). Practice effects and the use of alternate forms in serial neuropsychological testing. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 20(4), 517-529. doi:10.1016/j.acn.2004.12.003
- Belger, A., & Banich, M. T. (1992). Interhemispheric interaction affected by computational complexity. *Neuropsychologia*, *30*(10), 923-929. doi:10.1016/0028-3932(92)90036-L
- Belger, A., & Banich, M. T. (1998). Costs and Benefits of Integrating Information Between the Cerebral Hemispheres: A Computational Perspective. *Neuropsychology*, 12(3), 380-398. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.12.3.380
- Benedict, R. H. B., & Zgaljardic, D. J. (1998). Practice Effects During Repeated Administrations of Memory Tests With and Without Alternate Forms. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 20(3), 339-352. doi:10.1076/jcen.20.3.339.822
- Björnholm, L., Nikkinen, J., Kiviniemi, V., Nordström, T., Niemelä, S., Drakesmith, M., . . . Paus, T. (2017). Structural properties of the human corpus callosum: Multimodal assessment and sex differences. *Neuroimage*, 152, 108-118. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.02.056
- Bloom, J., & Hynd, G. (2005). The Role of the Corpus Callosum in Interhemispheric Transfer of Information: Excitation or Inhibition? *Neuropsychology Review*, 15(2), 59-71. doi:10.1007/s11065-005-6252-y
- Blumenthal, J. D., Zijdenbos, A., Molloy, E., & Giedd, J. N. (2002). Motion Artifact in Magnetic Resonance Imaging: Implications for Automated Analysis. *Neuroimage*, 16(1), 89-92. doi:10.1006/nimg.2002.1076
- Bozzali, M., Mastropasqua, C., Cercignani, M., Giulietti, G., Bonni, S., Caltagirone, C., & Koch, G. (2012). Microstructural damage of the posterior corpus callosum contributes to the clinical severity of neglect. *PLoS One*, 7(10), e48079. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0048079
- Brambilla, P., Hardan, A., Di Nemi, S. U., Perez, J., Soares, J. C., & Barale, F. (2003). Brain anatomy and development in autism: review of structural MRI studies. In (Vol. 61, pp. 557-569).
- Cabeza, R., Grady, C. L., Nyberg, L., McIntosh, A. R., Tulving, E., Kapur, S., . . . Cabeza, R. (1997). Age-related differences in neural activity during memory encoding and

retrieval: a positron emission tomography study. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 17*(1), 391-400. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-01-00391.1997

- Cai, Q., Haegen, L. V. D., & Brysbaert, M. (2013). Complementary hemispheric specialization for language production and visuospatial attention. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(4), E322. doi:10.1073/pnas.1212956110
- Calamia, M., Markon, K., & Tranel, D. (2012). Scoring Higher the Second Time Around: Meta-Analyses of Practice Effects in Neuropsychological Assessment. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 26(4), 543-570. doi:10.1080/13854046.2012.680913
- Carey, D. P., Johnstone, L. T., & Carey, D. P. (2014). Quantifying cerebral asymmetries for language in dextrals and adextrals with random-effects meta analysis. *Frontiers in psychology*, 5, 1128-1128. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01128
- Casey, B. J., Jones, R. M., & Hare, T. A. (2008). The Adolescent Brain. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1124(1), 111-126. doi:10.1196/annals.1440.010
- Chavarria, M. C., Sanchez, F. J., Chou, Y. Y., Thompson, P. M., & Luders, E. (2014). Puberty in the corpus callosum. *Neuroscience*, 265, 1-8. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.01.030
- Chiang, M.-C., Barysheva, M., Shattuck, D. W., Lee, A. D., Madsen, S. K., Avedissian, C., . . . Thompson, P. M. (2009). Genetics of brain fiber architecture and intellectual performance. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 29(7), 2212-2224. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4184-08.2009
- Chicoine, A. J., Proteau, L., & Lassonde, M. (2000). Absence of interhemispheric transfer of unilateral visuomotor learning in young children and individuals with agenesis of the corpus callosum. *Dev Neuropsychol*, 18(1), 73-94. doi:10.1207/S15326942DN1801_5
- Clarke, J. M., & Zaidel, E. (1994). Anatomical-behavioral relationships: Corpus callosum morphometry and hemispheric specialization. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *64*(1-2), 185-202. doi:10.1016/0166-4328(94)90131-7
- Clarke, S., Kraftsik, R., Van Der Loos, H., & Innocenti, G. M. (1989). Forms and measures of adult and developing human corpus callosum: Is there sexual dimorphism? *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 280(2), 213-230. doi:10.1002/cne.902800205
- Craik, F. I. M., & Bialystok, E. (2006). Cognition through the lifespan: mechanisms of change. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *10*(3), 131-138. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2006.01.007
- Danielsen, V. M., Pineiro, D. V., Mowinckel, A. M., Sederevicius, D., Fjell, A. M., Walhovd, K. B., & Westerhausen, R. (2020). Lifespan trajectories of relative corpus callosum thickness: regional differences and cognitive relevance. *PsyArXiv Preprints*. doi:https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/v58s4
- de Lacoste, M. C., Kirkpatrick, J. B., & Ross, E. D. (1985). Topography of the human corpus callosum. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 44(6), 578-591. doi:10.1097/00005072-198511000-00004
- Deary, I. (2012). Intelligence. Annual Review of Psychology, 63, 453.
- Denenberg, V. H., Kertesz, A., & Cowell, P. E. (1991). A factor analysis of the human's corpus callosum. *Brain Research*, 548(1-2), 126-132. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(91)91113-F

- Doraiswamy, P. M., Figiel, G. S., Husain, M. M., McDonald, W. M., Shah, S. A., Boyko, O. B., . . . Doraiswamy, P. M. (1991). Aging of the human corpus callosum: magnetic resonance imaging in normal volunteers. *The Journal of neuropsychiatry and clinical neurosciences*, 3(4), 392-397.
- Dougherty, R. F., Ben-Shachar, M., Bammer, R., Brewer, A. A., Wandell, B. A., & Dougherty, R. F. (2005). Functional organization of human occipital-callosal fiber tracts. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(20), 7350-7355. doi:10.1073/pnas.0500003102
- Dougherty, R. F., Ben-Shachar, M., Deutsch, G. K., Hernandez, A., Fox, G. R., & Wandell, B. A. (2007). Temporal-callosal pathway diffusivity predicts phonological skills in children. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(20), 8556-8561. doi:10.1073/pnas.0608961104
- Driesen, N., & Raz, N. (1995). The influence of sex, age, and handedness on corpus callosum morphology: A meta-analysis. *Psychobiology*, 23(3), 240-247. doi:10.3758/BF03332028
- Duara, R., Kushch, A., Gross-Glenn, K., Barker, W. W., Jallad, B., Pascal, S., . . . Lubs, H. (1991). Neuroanatomic Differences Between Dyslexic and Normal Readers on Magnetic Resonance Imaging Scans. *Archives of Neurology*, 48(4), 410-416. doi:10.1001/archneur.1991.00530160078018
- Dunst, B., Benedek, M., Koschutnig, K., Jauk, E., & Neubauer, A. C. (2014). Sex differences in the IQ-white matter microstructure relationship: A DTI study. *Brain and Cognition*, 91, 71-78. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2014.08.006
- Edlin, J. M., Leppanen, M. L., Fain, R. J., Hackländer, R. P., Hanaver-Torrez, S. D., & Lyle,
 K. B. (2015). On the use (and misuse?) of the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory. *Brain and Cognition*, 94, 44-51. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2015.01.003
- Fabri, M., & Polonara, G. (2013). Functional topography of human corpus callosum: an FMRI mapping study. *Neural Plast, 2013*, 251308. doi:10.1155/2013/251308
- Fabri, M., Polonara, G., Mascioli, G., Salvolini, U., & Manzoni, T. (2011). Topographical organization of human corpus callosum: An fMRI mapping study. *Topographical* organization of human corpus callosum: An fMRI mapping study, 1370, 99-111.
- Fendrich, R., & Gazzaniga, M. S. (1989). Evidence of foveal splitting in a commissurotomy patient. *Neuropsychologia*, 27(3), 273-281. doi:10.1016/0028-3932(89)90018-3
- Fendrich, R., Wessinger, C. M., & Gazzaniga, M. S. (1996). Nasotemporal overlap at the retinal vertical meridian: Investigations with a callosotomy patient. *Neuropsychologia*, 34(7), 637-646. doi:10.1016/0028-3932(95)00155-7
- Fischl, B., Sereno, M. I., & Dale, A. M. (1999). Cortical surface-based analysis: II: inflation, flattening, and a surface-based coordinate system. *Neuroimage*, 9(2), 195-207.
- Fjell, A. M., Westlye, L. T., Greve, D. N., Fischl, B., Benner, T., van der Kouwe, A. J., . . .
 Walhovd, K. B. (2008). The relationship between diffusion tensor imaging and volumetry as measures of white matter properties. *Neuroimage*, 42(4), 1654-1668.
- Flöel, A., Knecht, S., Lohmann, H., Deppe, M., Sommer, J., Dräger, B., . . . Henningsen, H. (2001). Language and spatial attention can lateralize to the same hemisphere in healthy humans. *Neurology*, 57(6), 1018-1024. doi:10.1212/WNL.57.6.1018

- Friederici, A. D., Von Cramon, D. Y., & Kotz, S. A. (2007). Role of the Corpus Callosum in Speech Comprehension: Interfacing Syntax and Prosody. *Neuron*, 53(1), 135-145. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2006.11.020
- Fryer, S. L., Frank, L. R., Spadoni, A. D., Theilmann, R. J., Nagel, B. J., Schweinsburg, A. D., & Tapert, S. F. (2008). Microstructural integrity of the corpus callosum linked with neuropsychological performance in adolescents. *Brain Cogn*, 67(2), 225-233. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2008.01.009
- Ganjavi, H., Bellec, P., MacDonald, P. A., Evans, A. C., Karama, S., Lewis, J. D., & Waber, D. P. (2011). Negative Associations between Corpus Callosum Midsagittal Area and IQ in a Representative Sample of Healthy Children and Adolescents. *PLoS ONE*, 6(5). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019698
- Gazzaniga, M. S. (2000). Cerebral specialization and interhemispheric communication: does the corpus callosum enable the human condition? *Brain, 123 (Pt 7)*, 1293-1326. doi:10.1093/brain/123.7.1293
- Gazzaniga, M. S. (2005). Forty-five years of split-brain research and still going strong. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 6(8), 653. doi:10.1038/nrn1723
- Gazzaniga, M. S. (2014). Neuroscience.
- Genc, E., Bergmann, J., Singer, W., & Kohler, A. (2011). Interhemispheric connections shape subjective experience of bistable motion. *Curr Biol*, 21(17), 1494-1499. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2011.08.003
- Genc, S., Malpas, C. B., Ball, G., Silk, T. J., & Seal, M. L. (2018). Age, sex, and puberty related development of the corpus callosum: a multi-technique diffusion MRI study. *Brain Struct Funct*, 223(6), 2753-2765. doi:10.1007/s00429-018-1658-5
- Giedd, J. N., Blumenthal, J., Jeffries, N. O., Rajapakse, J. C., Vaituzis, A. C., Liu, H., . . . Castellanos, F. X. (1999). Development of the human corpus callosum during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal MRI study. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, 23(4), 571-588. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10390717
- Giedd, J. N., Rumsey, J. M., Castellanos, F. X., Rajapakse, J. C., Kaysen, D., Vaituzis, C. A.,
 ... Rapoport, J. L. (1996). A quantitative MRI study of the corpus callosum in children and adolescents. *Developmental Brain Research*, 91(2), 274-280. doi:10.1016/0165-3806(95)00193-X
- Gilliam, M., Stockman, M., Malek, M., Sharp, W., Greenstein, D., Lalonde, F., . . . Shaw, P. (2011). Developmental Trajectories of the Corpus Callosum in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 69(9), 839-846. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.11.024
- Giorgio, A., Santelli, L., Tomassini, V., Bosnell, R., Smith, S., De Stefano, N., & Johansen-Berg, H. (2010). Age-related changes in grey and white matter structure throughout adulthood. *Neuroimage*, *51*(3), 943-951. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.03.004
- Glickstein, M., & Berlucchi, G. (2008). Classical disconnection studies of the corpus callosum. *Cortex*, 44(8), 914-927. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2008.04.001
- Gootjes, L., Bouma, A., Van Strien, J. W., Van Schijndel, R., Barkhof, F., & Scheltens, P. (2006). Corpus callosum size correlates with asymmetric performance on a dichotic

listening task in healthy aging but not in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychologia*, 44(2), 208-217. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2005.05.002

- Grant, P. (2015). Cerebral Cortex (Second Edition ed.): Elsevier Ltd.
- Hasan, K. M., Ewing-Cobbs, L., Kramer, L. A., Fletcher, J. M., & Narayana, P. A. (2008). Diffusion tensor quantification of the macrostructure and microstructure of human midsagittal corpus callosum across the lifespan. *NMR Biomed*, 21(10), 1094-1101. doi:10.1002/nbm.1286
- Hasan, K. M., Kamali, A., Iftikhar, A., Kramer, L. A., Papanicolaou, A. C., Fletcher, J. M., & Ewing-Cobbs, L. (2009). Diffusion tensor tractography quantification of the human corpus callosum fiber pathways across the lifespan. *Brain research*, 1249, 91-100.
- Hasan, K. M., Kamali, A., Kramer, L. A., Papnicolaou, A. C., Fletcher, J. M., & Ewing-Cobbs, L. (2008). Diffusion tensor quantification of the human midsagittal corpus callosum subdivisions across the lifespan. *Brain Research*, 1227, 52-67. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2008.06.030
- Hayes, A. F. (2009). Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical mediation analysis in the new millennium. *Communication monographs*, 76(4), 408-420.
- Heilman, M. K., & Abell, M. T. V. D. (1980). Right hemisphere dominance for attention: The mechanism underlying hemispheric asymmetries of inattention (neglect). *Neurology*, 30(3), 327-330. doi:10.1212/WNL.30.3.327
- Hinkley, L. B., Marco, E. J., Brown, E. G., Bukshpun, P., Gold, J., Hill, S., . . . Nagarajan, S. S. (2016). The Contribution of the Corpus Callosum to Language Lateralization. J *Neurosci*, 36(16), 4522-4533. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3850-14.2016
- Hofer, S., & Frahm, J. (2006). Topography of the human corpus callosum revisited— Comprehensive fiber tractography using diffusion tensor magnetic resonance imaging. *Neuroimage*, 32(3), 989-994. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.05.044
- Hofman, M. A. (2019). On the nature and evolution of the human mind. *Progress in brain research*, 250, 251. doi:10.1016/bs.pbr.2019.03.016
- Holloway, R. L., & de Lacoste, M. C. (1986). Sexual dimorphism in the human corpus callosum: an extension and replication study. *Hum Neurobiol*, 5(2), 87-91. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3733478</u>
- Hopkins, W. D., & Cantalupo, C. (2008). Theoretical Speculations on the Evolutionary Origins of Hemispheric Specialization. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 17(3), 233-237.
- Hou, J., & Pakkenberg, B. (2012). Age-related degeneration of corpus callosum in the 90+ years measured with stereology. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 33(5), 1009.e1001-1009.e1009. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.10.017
- Hutchinson, A., Mathias, J., Jacobson, B., Ruzic, L., Bond, A., & Banich, M. (2009).
 Relationship between intelligence and the size and composition of the corpus callosum. *Experimental Brain Research*, 192(3), 455-464. doi:10.1007/s00221-008-1604-5
- Innocenti, G. M., & Price, D. J. (2005). Exuberance in the development of cortical networks. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 6(12), 955-965. doi:10.1038/nrn1790

- Ivnik, R. J., Smith, G. E., Lucas, J. A., Petersen, R. C., Boeve, B. F., Kokmen, E., & Tangalos, E. G. (1999). Testing normal older people three or four times at 1- to 2-year intervals: Defining normal variance. In (pp. 121-127). [Washington, D.C.] :.
- Jancke, L., Staiger, J. F., Schlaug, G., Huang, Y., & Steinmetz, H. (1997). The relationship between corpus callosum size and forebrain volume. *Cereb Cortex*, 7(1), 48-56. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9023431
- Jung, R. E., & Haier, R. J. (2007). The Parieto-Frontal Integration Theory (P-FIT) of intelligence: Converging neuroimaging evidence. *Behav. Brain Sci.*, 30(2), 135-154. doi:10.1017/S0140525X07001185
- Katti, G., Ara, S. A., & Shireen, A. (2011). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)--a review. *International Journal of Dental Clinics*, *3*(1), 65.
- Kennedy, K. M., & Raz, N. (2009). Aging white matter and cognition: differential effects of regional variations in diffusion properties on memory, executive functions, and speed. *Neuropsychologia*, 47(3), 916-927. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.01.001
- Knecht, S., Drger, B., Deppe, M., Bobe, L., Lohmann, H., Flel, A., . . . Henningsen, H.
 (2000). Handedness and hemispheric language dominance in healthy humans. *Brain*, 123(12), 2512-2518. doi:10.1093/brain/123.12.2512
- Krain, A. L., & Castellanos, F. X. (2006). Brain development and ADHD. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 26(4), 433-444. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2006.01.005
- Kreuter, C., Kinsbourne, M., & Trevarthen, C. (1972). Are deconnected cerebral hemispheres independent channels? A preliminary study of the effect of unilateral loading on bilateral finger tapping. *Neuropsychologia*, 10(4), 453-461. doi:10.1016/0028-3932(72)90008-5
- Krogsrud, S. K., Fjell, A. M., Tamnes, C. K., Grydeland, H., Mork, L., Due-Tonnessen, P., . .
 Walhovd, K. B. (2016). Changes in white matter microstructure in the developing brain-A longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging study of children from 4 to 11years of age. *Neuroimage*, *124*(Pt A), 473-486. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.09.017
- LaMantia, A. S., & Rakic, P. (1990). Axon overproduction and elimination in the corpus callosum of the developing rhesus monkey. *J Neurosci*, 10(7), 2156-2175. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2376772
- Lebel, C., Caverhill-Godkewitsch, S., & Beaulieu, C. (2010). Age-related regional variations of the corpus callosum identified by diffusion tensor tractography. *Neuroimage*, 52(1), 20-31. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.03.072
- Lebel, C., Walker, L., Leemans, A., Phillips, L., & Beaulieu, C. (2008). Microstructural maturation of the human brain from childhood to adulthood. *Neuroimage*, 40(3), 1044-1055. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.12.053
- Lezak, M. D. (2012). *Neuropsychological assessment* (5th ed. ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Luders, E., Cherbuin, N., Thompson, P. M., Gutman, B., Anstey, K. J., Sachdev, P., & Toga, A. W. (2010). When more is less: Associations between corpus callosum size and handedness lateralization. *Neuroimage*, 52(1), 43-49. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.04.016

- Luders, E., Narr, K. L., Bilder, R. M., Thompson, P. M., Szeszko, P. R., Hamilton, L., & Toga, A. W. (2007). Positive correlations between corpus callosum thickness and intelligence. *Neuroimage*, 37(4), 1457-1464. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.06.028
- Luders, E., Narr, K. L., Thompson, P. M., & Toga, A. W. (2009). Neuroanatomical correlates of intelligence. *Intelligence*, *37*(2), 156-163. doi:10.1016/j.intell.2008.07.002
- Luders, E., Narr, K. L., Zaidel, E., Thompson, P. M., Jancke, L., & Toga, A. W. (2006). Parasagittal Asymmetries of the Corpus Callosum. *Cerebral Cortex*, 16(3), 346-354. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhi112
- Luders, E., Narr, M. K., Zaidel, W. E., Thompson, W. P., & Toga, W. A. (2006). Gender effects on callosal thickness in scaled and unscaled space. *NeuroReport*, 17(11), 1103-1106. doi:10.1097/01.wnr.0000227987.77304.cc
- Luders, E., Thompson, P. M., Narr, K. L., Zamanyan, A., Chou, Y.-Y., Gutman, B., . . . Toga, A. W. (2011). The link between callosal thickness and intelligence in healthy children and adolescents. *Neuroimage*, 54(3), 1823-1830. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.09.083
- Luders, E., Thompson, P. M., & Toga, A. W. (2010). The development of the corpus callosum in the healthy human brain. *J Neurosci*, 30(33), 10985-10990. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.5122-09.2010
- Madden, D., Bennett, I., & Song, A. (2009). Cerebral White Matter Integrity and Cognitive Aging: Contributions from Diffusion Tensor Imaging. *Neuropsychology Review*, 19(4), 415-435. doi:10.1007/s11065-009-9113-2
- Maechler, M. (2019). "Finding Groups in Data": Cluster Analysis Extended Rousseeuw et al. *R Packag. version 2.1.*
- Magnus, P., Irgens, L. M., Haug, K., Nystad, W., Skjrven, R., & Stoltenberg, C. (2006).
 Cohort profile: The Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa). *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 35(5), 1146-1150. doi:10.1093/ije/dyl170
- Marzi, C. A., Mancini, F., Sperandio, I., & Savazzi, S. (2009). Evidence of midline retinal nasotemporal overlap in healthy humans: A model for foveal sparing in hemianopia? *Neuropsychologia*, 47(13), 3007-3011. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.05.007
- Maurizio, C. (1998). Frontoparietal cortical networks for directing attention and the eye to visual locations: Identical, independent, or overlapping neural systems? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95(3), 831. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.3.831
- McClelland, J. L., & Ralph, M. A. L. (2015). Cognitive Neuroscience.
- McDaniel, M. A. (2005). Big-brained people are smarter: A meta-analysis of the relationship between in vivo brain volume and intelligence. *Intelligence*, *33*(4), 337-346. doi:10.1016/j.intell.2004.11.005
- McGraw, K. O., & Wong, S. P. (1996). Forming Inferences About Some Intraclass Correlation Coefficients. *Psychological Methods*, 1(1), 30-46. doi:10.1037/1082-989X.1.1.30
- Mesulam, M. M. (1998). From sensation to cognition. *Brain : a journal of neurology, 121 (Pt 6), 1013.*
- Morcom, A. M., & Johnson, W. (2015). Neural reorganization and compensation in aging., 27(7), 1275. doi:10.1162/jocn_a_00783

- Neisser, U. (1998). Introduction: Rising test scores and what they mean. *American Scientist*, 85(5), 440-447.
- Nobre, A. C., & Plunkett, K. (1997). The neural system of language: structure and development. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 7(2), 262-268. doi:10.1016/S0959-4388(97)80015-3
- Nosarti, C., Rushe, T. M., Woodruff, P. W. R., Stewart, A. L., Rifkin, L., & Murray, R. M. (2004). Corpus callosum size and very preterm birth: relationship to neuropsychological outcome. *Brain*, 127(9), 2080-2089. doi:10.1093/brain/awh230
- Ocklenburg, S., & Güntürkün, O. (2018). *The lateralized brain: The neuroscience and evolution of hemispheric asymmetries*. London, UK: Academic Press.
- Ojemann, G. A., & Ojemann, G. A. (1991). Cortical organization of language. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 11(8), 2281-2287. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.11-08-02281.1991
- Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: The Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia*, *9*(1), 97-113. doi:10.1016/0028-3932(71)90067-4
- Pandya, D. N., Karol, E. A., & Heilbronn, D. (1971). The topographical distribution of interhemispheric projections in the corpus callosum of the rhesus monkey. *Brain Research*, 32(1), 31-43. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(71)90153-3
- Pandya, D. N., & Seltzer, B. (1986). The topography of commissural
- fibers. In F. Lepore, M. Ptito, & H. H. Jasper (Eds.), *Two Hemispheres, One Brain. Functions* of the Corpus Callosum (pp. pp. 47-73). New York: Liss.
- Pardo, J. V., Fox, P. T., & Raichle, M. E. (1991). Localization of a human system for sustained attention by positron emission tomography. *Nature*, 349(6304), 61.
- Paul, L. (2011). Developmental malformation of the corpus callosum: a review of typical callosal development and examples of developmental disorders with callosal involvement. Advancing Interdisciplinary Research, 3(1), 3-27. doi:10.1007/s11689-010-9059-y
- Paul, L., Brown, W. S., Adolphs, R., Tyszka, J., Richards, L., Mukherjee, P., & Sherr, E. H. (2007). Agenesis of the corpus callosum: genetic, developmental and functional aspects of connectivity. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.*, 8(4), 287-299. doi:10.1038/nrn2107
- Penke, L., Maniega, S. M., Bastin, M., Hernandez, M. V., Murray, C., Royle, N., . . . Deary, I. (2012). Brain white matter tract integrity as a neural foundation for general intelligence. *Molecular psychiatry*, 17(10), 1026-1030.
- Penke, L., Munoz Maniega, S., Houlihan, L. M., Murray, C., Gow, A. J., Clayden, J. D., . . . Deary, I. J. (2010). White matter integrity in the splenium of the corpus callosum is related to successful cognitive aging and partly mediates the protective effect of an ancestral polymorphism in ADRB2. *Behav Genet*, 40(2), 146-156. doi:10.1007/s10519-009-9318-4
- Persson, J., Nyberg, L., Lind, J., Larsson, A., Nilsson, L.-G., Ingvar, M., & Buckner, R. L. (2006). StructureFunction Correlates of Cognitive Decline in Aging. *Cerebral Cortex*, 16(7), 907-915. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhj036
- Peters, A., & Sethares, C. (2002). Aging and the myelinated fibers in prefrontal cortex and corpus callosum of the monkey. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 442(3), 277-291. doi:10.1002/cne.10099

- Peters, M., Oeltze, S., Seminowicz, D., Steinmetz, H., Koeneke, S., & Jäncke, L. (2002). Division of the corpus callosum into subregions. *Brain and Cognition*, 50(1), 62-72. doi:10.1016/S0278-2626(02)00011-8
- Peterson, B. S., Feineigle, P. A., Staib, L. H., & Gore, J. C. (2001). Automated measurement of latent morphological features in the human corpus callosum. *Human Brain Mapping*, 12(4), 232-245. doi:10.1002/1097-0193(200104)12:4<232::AID-HBM1018>3.0.CO

2-J

- Prendergast, D. M., Ardekani, B., Ikuta, T., John, M., Peters, B., Derosse, P., . . . Szeszko, P.
 R. (2015). Age and sex effects on corpus callosum morphology across the lifespan. *Human Brain Mapping*, 36(7), 2691-2702. doi:10.1002/hbm.22800
- Prigge, M. B. D., Lange, N., Bigler, E. D., Merkley, T. L., Neeley, E. S., Abildskov, T. J., . . . Lainhart, J. E. (2013). Corpus callosum area in children and adults with autism. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7(2), 221-234. doi:10.1016/j.rasd.2012.09.007
- Pujol, J., Vendrell, P., Junque, C., Marti-Vilalta, J. L., & Capdevila, A. (1993). When does human brain development end? Evidence of corpus callosum growth up to adulthood. *Ann Neurol*, 34(1), 71-75. doi:10.1002/ana.410340113
- Pujol, M. J., Deus, M. J., Losilla, M. J., & Capdevila, M. A. (1999). Cerebral lateralization of language in normal left-handed people studied by functional MRI. *Neurology*, 52(5), 1038-1043. doi:10.1212/WNL.52.5.1038
- Putnam, M. C., Wig, G. S., Grafton, S. T., Kelley, W. M., & Gazzaniga, M. S. (2008). Structural organization of the corpus callosum predicts the extent and impact of cortical activity in the nondominant hemisphere. *J Neurosci*, 28(11), 2912-2918. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2295-07.2008
- Rajapakse, J. C., Giedd, J. N., Rumsey, J. M., Vaituzis, A. C., Hamburger, S. D., & Rapoport, J. L. (1996). Regional MRI measurements of the corpus callosum: a methodological and developmental study. *Brain and Development*, 18(5), 379-388. doi:10.1016/0387-7604(96)00034-4
- Rakic, P., & Yakovlev, P. I. (1968). Development of the corpus callosum and cavum septi in man. J Comp Neurol, 132(1), 45-72. doi:10.1002/cne.901320103
- Rauch, R. A., & Jinkins, J. R. (1994). Analysis of cross-sectional area measurements of the corpus callosum adjusted for brain size in male and female subjects from childhood to adulthood. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 64(1-2), 65-78. doi:10.1016/0166-4328(94)90119-8
- Raz, N., Ghisletta, P., Rodrigue, K. M., Kennedy, K. M., & Lindenberger, U. (2010).
 Trajectories of brain aging in middle-aged and older adults: Regional and individual differences. *Neuroimage*, 51(2), 501-511. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.03.020
- Reuter-Lorenz, P. A., & Miller, A. C. (1998). The Cognitive Neuroscience of Human Laterality: Lessons From the Bisected Brain. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 7(1), 15-20. doi:10.1111/1467-8721.ep11521813
- Riise, J., & Pakkenberg, B. (2011). Stereological estimation of the total number of myelinated callosal fibers in human subjects. *J Anat, 218*(3), 277-284. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7580.2010.01333.x

- Rosseel, Y. (2012). Lavaan: An R package for structural equation modeling and more. Version 0.5–12 (BETA). *Journal of statistical software*, 48(2), 1-36.
- Roth, G., & Dicke, U. (2005). Evolution of the brain and intelligence. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *9*(5), 250-257. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2005.03.005
- Salami, A., Eriksson, J., Nilsson, L. G., & Nyberg, L. (2012). Age-related white matter microstructural differences partly mediate age-related decline in processing speed but not cognition. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1822(3), 408-415. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2011.09.001
- Salat, D., Ward, A., Kaye, J. A., & Janowsky, J. S. (1997). Sex Differences in the Corpus Callosum With Aging. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 18(2), 191-197. doi:10.1016/S0197-4580(97)00014-6
- Salat, D. H., Tuch, D. S., Greve, D. N., van der Kouwe, A. J., Hevelone, N. D., Zaleta, A. K., ... Dale, A. M. (2005). Age-related alterations in white matter microstructure measured by diffusion tensor imaging. *Neurobiol Aging*, 26(8), 1215-1227. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2004.09.017
- Salthouse, T. A., Schroeder, D. H., & Ferrer, E. (2004). Estimating Retest Effects in Longitudinal Assessments of Cognitive Functioning in Adults Between 18 and 60 Years of Age. *Developmental Psychology*, 40(5), 813-822. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.40.5.813
- Scally, B., Burke, M. R., Bunce, D., & Delvenne, J. F. (2018). Visual and visuomotor interhemispheric transfer time in older adults. *Neurobiol Aging*, 65, 69-76. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2018.01.005
- Scharfen, J., Peters, J. M., & Holling, H. (2018). Retest effects in cognitive ability tests: A meta-analysis. *Intelligence*, 67, 44-66. doi:10.1016/j.intell.2018.01.003
- Schmahmann, J. D., & Pandya, D. N. (2006). *Fiber pathways of the brain*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Siqveland, J., Dalsbø, T. K., Harboe, I., & Leiknes, K. A. (2014). *Måleegenskaper ved den* norske versjonen av Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI). Oslo: Nasjonalt kunnskapssenter for helsetjenesten
- Skumlien, M., Sederevicius, D., Fjell, A. M., Walhovd, K. B., & Westerhausen, R. (2018). Parallel but independent reduction of emotional awareness and corpus callosum connectivity in older age. *PloS one*, 13(12), e0209915.
- Smith, R. J. (2005). Relative Size versus Controlling for Size. Interpretation of Ratios in Research on Sexual Dimorphism in the Human Corpus Callosum. *Current Anthropology*, 46(2), 249-273. doi:10.1086/427117
- Specht, K. (2014). Neuronal basis of speech comprehension. *Hearing Research, 307*, 121-135. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2013.09.011
- Strauss, E., Wada, J., & Hunter, M. (1994). Callosal morphology and performance on intelligence tests. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 16(1), 079-083. doi:10.1080/01688639408402618
- Strenze, T. (2007). Intelligence and socioeconomic success: A meta-analytic review of longitudinal research. *Intelligence*, *35*(5), 401-426. doi:10.1016/j.intell.2006.09.004

- Sullivan, E. V., Adalsteinsson, E., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2006). Selective age-related degradation of anterior callosal fiber bundles quantified in vivo with fiber tracking. *Cereb Cortex*, 16(7), 1030-1039. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhj045
- Sullivan, E. V., Rohlfing, T., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2010). Quantitative fiber tracking of lateral and interhemispheric white matter systems in normal aging: Relations to timed performance. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 31(3), 464-481. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.04.007
- Tamnes, C. K., Østby, Y., Fjell, A. M., Westlye, L. T., Due-Tønnessen, P., & Walhovd, K. B. (2010). Brain Maturation in Adolescence and Young Adulthood: Regional Age-Related Changes in Cortical Thickness and White Matter Volume and Microstructure. *Cerebral Cortex*, 20(3), 534-548. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhp118
- Tamnes, C. K., Walhovd, K. B., Dale, A. M., Ostby, Y., Grydeland, H., Richardson, G., . . . Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2013). Brain development and aging: overlapping and unique patterns of change. *Neuroimage*, 68, 63-74. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.11.039
- Tanaka-Arakawa, M. M., Matsui, M., Tanaka, C., Uematsu, A., Uda, S., Miura, K., . . . Noguchi, K. (2015). Developmental changes in the corpus callosum from infancy to early adulthood: a structural magnetic resonance imaging study. *PLoS One*, 10(3), e0118760. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0118760
- Tang, C., Eaves, E., Ng, J., Carpenter, D., Mai, X., Schroeder, D., ... Haier, R. (2010). Brain networks for working memory and factors of intelligence assessed in males and females with fMRI and DTI. *Intelligence*, 38(3), 293-303.
- Thiel, A., Schumacher, B., Wienhard, K., Gairing, S., Kracht, L. W., Wagner, R., . . . Heiss, W. D. (2006). Direct demonstration of transcallosal disinhibition in language networks. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 26(9), 1122-1127. doi:10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600350
- Thompson, P. M., Giedd, J. N., Woods, R. P., MacDonald, D., Evans, A. C., & Toga, A. W. (2000). Growth patterns in the developing brain detected by using continuum mechanical tensor maps. *Nature*, 404(6774), 190-193. doi:10.1038/35004593
- Tomaiuolo, F., Voci, L., Bresci, M., Cozza, S., Posteraro, F., Oliva, M., & Doricchi, F. (2010). Selective visual neglect in right brain damaged patients with splenial interhemispheric disconnection. *Exp Brain Res*, 206(2), 209-217. doi:10.1007/s00221-010-2230-6
- Tomasch, J. (1954). Size, distribution, and number of fibres in the human Corpus Callosum. *Anatomical Record*, 119(1), 119-135. doi:10.1002/ar.1091190109
- Travers, B. G., Tromp, D. P. M., Adluru, N., Lange, N., Destiche, D., Ennis, C., . . . Travers, B. G. (2015). Atypical development of white matter microstructure of the corpus callosum in males with autism: a longitudinal investigation. *Molecular autism*, 6(1), 15-15. doi:10.1186/s13229-015-0001-8
- Ulusoy, I., Halici, U., Nalçacı, E., Anaç, I., Leblebicio Eq1 lu, K., & Başar-Ero Eq1 lu, C. (2004). Time-frequency analysis of visual evoked potentials for interhemispheric transfer time and proportion in callosal fibers of different diameters. *Biological Cybernetics*, 90(4), 291-301. doi:10.1007/s00422-004-0469-3

- van Der Knaap, L. J., & van Der Ham, I. J. M. (2011). How does the corpus callosum mediate interhemispheric transfer? A review. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 223(1), 211-221. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2011.04.018
- Vannucci, R. C., Barron, T. F., & Vannucci, S. J. (2017). Development of the Corpus Callosum: An MRI Study. *Dev Neurosci, 39*(1-4), 97-106. doi:10.1159/000453031
- Vyacheslav, R. K., Maurizio, C., & Michel Thiebaut de, S. (2019). The architecture of functional lateralisation and its relationship to callosal connectivity in the human brain. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 1-9. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-09344-1
- Walhovd, K. B., Westlye, L. T., Amlien, I., Espeseth, T., Reinvang, I., Raz, N., . . . Fjell, A. M. (2011). Consistent neuroanatomical age-related volume differences across multiple samples. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *32*(5), 916-932. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2009.05.013
- Walterfang, M., Luders, E., Looi, J. C. L., Rajagopalan, P., Velakoulis, D., Thompson, P. M.,
 ... Walterfang, M. (2014). Shape analysis of the corpus callosum in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal lobar degeneration subtypes. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD*, 40(4), 897-906. doi:10.3233/JAD-131853
- Walterfang, M., Yücel, M., Barton, S., Reutens, D. C., Wood, A. G., Chen, J., . . . Allen, N. B. (2009). Corpus callosum size and shape in individuals with current and past depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *115*(3), 411-420. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2008.10.010
- Wechsler, D. (1999). *Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI)*. San Antonio, USA: The Psychological Corporation.
- Wechsler, D. (2002). Wechsler Preschool and Primary Scale of Intelligence -Third Edition (WPPSI-III). San Antonio, USA: The Psychological Corporation.
- Weintraub, S., & Mesulam, M. M. (1987). Right Cerebral Dominance in Spatial Attention: Further Evidence Based on Ipsilateral Neglect. *Archives of Neurology*, 44(6), 621-625. doi:10.1001/archneur.1987.00520180043014
- Weis, S., Kimbacher, M., Wenger, E., & Neuhold, A. (1993). Morphometric analysis of the corpus callosum using MR: correlation of measurements with aging in healthy individuals. *AJNR. American journal of neuroradiology*, 14(3), 637.
- Westerhausen, R., Fjell, A. M., Krogsrud, S. K., Rohani, D. A., Skranes, J. S., Haberg, A. K., & Walhovd, K. B. (2016). Selective increase in posterior corpus callosum thickness between the age of 4 and 11years. *Neuroimage*, 139, 17-25. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.06.008
- Westerhausen, R., Friesen, C.-M., Rohani, D., Krogsrud, S., Tamnes, C., Skranes, J., . . .
 Walhovd, K. (2018). The corpus callosum as anatomical marker of intelligence? A critical examination in a large-scale developmental study. *Brain Structure and Function*, 223(1), 285-296. doi:10.1007/s00429-017-1493-0
- Westerhausen, R., Gruner, R., Specht, K., & Hugdahl, K. (2009). Functional relevance of interindividual differences in temporal lobe callosal pathways: a DTI tractography study. *Cereb Cortex*, 19(6), 1322-1329. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhn173
- Westerhausen, R., & Karud, C. M. R. (2018). Callosotomy affects performance IQ: A metaanalysis of individual participant data. *Neuroscience Letters*, 665, 43-47. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2017.11.040

- Westerhausen, R., Kreuder, F., Sequeira, S. D. S., Walter, C., Woerner, W., Wittling, R. A., .
 . Wittling, W. (2004). Effects of handedness and gender on macro- and microstructure of the corpus callosum and its subregions: a combined high-resolution and diffusion-tensor MRI study. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 21(3), 418-426. doi:10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2004.07.002
- Westerhausen, R., Luders, E., Specht, K., Ofte, S. H., Toga, A. W., Thompson, P. M., . . . Hugdahl, K. (2011). Structural and functional reorganization of the corpus callosum between the age of 6 and 8 years. *Cereb Cortex*, 21(5), 1012-1017. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhq165
- Westlye, L. T., Walhovd, K. B., Dale, A. M., Bjornerud, A., Due-Tonnessen, P., Engvig, A., . . . Fjell, A. M. (2010). Life-span changes of the human brain white matter: diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) and volumetry. *Cereb Cortex, 20*(9), 2055-2068. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhp280
- Witelson, S. F. (1989). Hand and sex differences in the isthmus and genu of the human corpus callosum. A postmortem morphological study. *Brain : a journal of neurology, 112 (Pt 3)*, 799.
- Wolff, J. J., Gerig, G., Lewis, J. D., Soda, T., Styner, M. A., Vachet, C., . . . Piven, J. (2015). Altered corpus callosum morphology associated with autism over the first 2 years of life. *Brain*, 138(7), 2046-2058. doi:10.1093/brain/awv118
- Wood, S. N. (2017). *Generalized additive models: an introduction with R*. Boca Raton, FL, USA: Chapman and Hall/CRC.
- Yeatman, J. D., Wandell, B. A., & Mezer, A. A. (2014). Lifespan maturation and degeneration of human brain white matter. *Nat Commun*, 5, 4932. doi:10.1038/ncomms5932
- Zahr, N. M., Rohlfing, T., Pfefferbaum, A., & Sullivan, E. V. (2009). Problem solving, working memory, and motor correlates of association and commissural fiber bundles in normal aging: a quantitative fiber tracking study. *Neuroimage*, 44(3), 1050-1062. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.09.046
- Zaidel, D., & Sperry, R. W. (1974). Memory impairment after commissurotomy in man. *Brain*, 97(1), 263-272. doi:10.1093/brain/97.1.263
- Zarei, M., Johansen-Berg, H., Smith, S., Ciccarelli, O., Thompson, A. J., & Matthews, P. M. (2006). Functional anatomy of interhemispheric cortical connections in the human brain. *Journal of Anatomy*, 209(3), 311-320. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7580.2006.00615.x
- Zhu, M., Wang, X., Gao, W., Shi, C., Ge, H., Shen, H., & Lin, Z. (2014). Corpus Callosum Atrophy and Cognitive Decline in Early Alzheimer's Disease: Longitudinal MRI Study. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 37(3-4), 214-222. doi:10.1159/000350410
- Zhuo, C., Liu, M., Wang, L., Tian, H., & Tang, J. (2016). Diffusion Tensor MR Imaging Evaluation of Callosal Abnormalities in Schizophrenia: A Meta-Analysis.(Clinical report). *PLoS ONE*, 11(8), e0161406. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0161406